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HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue    40%
59% Operating profit  

Headline earnings    45%

Rely on 
our ability



for the years ended 30 June
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REVIEW OF RESULTS
JSE Listing 1996 – 2007
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1996 1997 1998 1999 2000
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Income statements
Revenue 744 759 832 354 1 007 420 1 186 589 1 309 550 

Operating profit 22 499 28 232 38 940 44 696 53 749 
Net finance income 5 287 7 680 7 830 9 044 13 698 

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 
of the parent 18 257 25 331 31 215 45 891 48 820 
Headline earnings 18 095 25 331 31 215 45 891 48 820 

Balance sheets
Assets
Non-current assets 80 569 103 035 144 041 147 284 162 180 
Current assets 236 506 258 899 340 430 389 964 475 549 

Total assets 317 075 361 934 484 471 537 248 637 729 

Equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 79 250 100 163 130 184 164 479 207 464 
Minority interests – – – – – 
Non-current liabilities 36 737 40 624 57 170 45 066 50 356 
Current liabilities 201 088 221 147 297 117 327 703 379 909 

Total equity and liabilities 317 075 361 934 484 471 537 248 637 729 

Statistics
Headline earnings per share (cents) 32,6 45,6 56,3 82,7 88,0 
Dividend/share premium repayment 
per share (cents) 12,5 14,0 16,0 20,0 24,0 
Dividend/share premium repayment 
cover (times) 2,60 3,30 3,50 4,10 3,7 
Net tangible asset value per ordinary 
share (cents) 143,0 181,0 235,0 296,0 374,0 
Operating profit margin (%) 3,0 3,4 3,9 3,8 4,1
Share price (cents) 420 370 485 310 340
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Continuous growth since listing

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

1 701 182 2 284 063 2 408 399 2 510 717 4 765 342 5 795 118 8 127 793

66 271 79 353 92 546 109 092 186 747 262 153 415 877
14 756 12 650 17 541 11 558 18 717 22 385 55 399

51 483 53 277 72 007 98 414 137 062 197 668 276 180
62 754 79 957 98 573 115 774 139 256 195 159 282 612

333 035 355 772 375 472 431 564 513 104 671 967 1 064 673
686 737 950 576 968 475 1 036 783 1 778 075 2 336 322 3 183 655

1 019 772 1 306 348 1 343 947 1 468 347 2 291 179 3 008 289 4 248 328

255 203 335 101 360 376 396 641 522 155 702 467 1 002 702
– – – – 40 619 60 311 78 702

71 629 52 166 52 302 75 324 111 036 191 332 117 232
692 940 919 081 931 269 996 382 1 617 369 2 054 179 3 049 692

1 019 772 1 306 348 1 343 947 1 468 347 2 291 179 3 008 289 4 248 328

113,1 144,1 177,6 212,1 255,1 351,7 512,1

30,0 36,0 42,0 51,0 63,0 81,0 121,0

3,1 2,7 3,1 3,5 4,0 4,5 4,1

366,7 546,8 628,4 724,8 870,9 1 147,1 1 660,2
3,9 3,5 3,8 4,7 3,9 4,5 5,1
630 735 1 000 1 900 2 980 5 200 10 335
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POLICY & OBJECTIVES

focus
To concentrate our activities on those areas where our engineering, construction and management skills will
have the greatest effect.

service
To strive to provide an unequalled service to our clients. To deliver the standards of construction quality
specified. To maintain cordial relationships with our clients and their professional advisers and to minimise
areas of dispute.

human resource development
To create an environment which will provide opportunities for self-improvement and career growth for all
employees, whatever their background.

labour relations
To maintain good relationships with our labour force. To recognise the position of trade unions within
our industry and to seek common ground with them to ensure a stable workplace environment for our
workforce.

social
To interact with the disadvantaged of the communities in the areas where we contract in an attempt to improve
their standards of health and education.

safety
To provide a safe environment within which our workforce can be productively employed.

partnerships
To form strategic partnerships and participate in joint ventures with other industry players where appropriate.

To continue to support our associate companies formed in partnership with persons and companies from the
previously disadvantaged sector of our society.

financial
To improve returns to shareholders at a rate in excess of the real growth of the economy and the construction
sector in particular.

To keep debt at acceptable levels with due regard to the nature of our industry and the types of contracts
undertaken.
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Developing our
resources and
focusing on
growth



Turnover has risen by 40,3% to 
R8,1 billion in 2007.
An outstanding year
It has been another busy year for WBHO. Turnover, having risen
by 21,6% in 2006, rose by a further 40,3% to R8,1 billion in 2007.
Adjusted headline earnings have shown an even greater increase,
rising from R195 million to R311 million, an increase of 59,4%
after excluding the cost of our BEE transaction. This is the 14th
year in which WBHO has shown an unbroken increase in
earnings. Over this period average growth in earnings has been
30% which is commendable for any company but for a
construction company subject to the cyclical nature of the
industry, this is exceptional. Dividends relating to this year’s
earnings are 121 cents per share, an increase of 49,4%.

A buoyant industry
The South African construction industry continues to ride the
crest of a boom. In the last decade of the twentieth century
gross domestic fixed investment averaged between 13% and
15% of gross domestic product. Recently this has increased to
19% and is expected to reach 25% by 2014. Therefore, we do
not expect activity to tail off after the infrastructure spend
relating to the 2010 Soccer World Cup comes to an end. It
should be noted that WBHO is playing a significant role in
preparing the country for the World Cup. Apart from being joint
venture partners on three stadia (Cape Town, Durban and
Polokwane), we are also undertaking massive extensions to the

central terminal building at OR Tambo International Airport as
well as the construction of the brand new King Shaka Airport on
the North Coast. The total value of these projects is in excess of
R5 billion.

Order book at record levels
The nature of our order book, which has increased by 73,7% to
R10,6 billion, has changed. It now consists of much larger
contracts spread over longer time periods. Whilst there has been
an increase in margins, the effect thereof on the income
statement will be spread over a number of years. With the rapid
growth experienced by the industry it was inevitable that prices
would increase and shortages occur. Whilst the lack of skilled
supervisory personnel has been a problem, we have managed to
cope to date by making full use of our strong and talented junior
and middle management and giving younger employees
intensive training, in fact developing a “total training culture”
within the group. The recent acquisition of L.E.T. Construction
(Pty) Limited will also provide us with additional resources.
Shortages of cement and steel have occurred but have not been
a serious threat to production.

The increase in activity in the construction industry has not gone
unnoticed by the investment community, with WBHO’s share
price increasing by 98,8% over the year.

Utilising our
strong and
talented team

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

Mike Wylie
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International activities rewarding
The world-wide demand for commodities has led to an increase
in mining activities in a number of countries in Africa and we are
providing infrastructural works for new mines in Zambia, Ghana
and the DRC. There are good growth opportunities in all these
countries as well as in a number of other African states.

In Australia, our main activities have been in Melbourne. Despite
slow growth in this city other areas have been very busy
particularly Brisbane and Perth and overall results achieved
reflect an increase in operating profit of 34,1%. 

Black empowerment
We are pleased with the outcome of our BEE initiative which was
implemented in October last year. In particular, our new black
directors have settled in well and are making a valuable
contribution. The other elements of our transformation initiative
are receiving the highest priority at all our divisional boards and
good progress is being made.

Succession planning
We regard the time and attention we devote to succession
planning as one of the pillars which have sustained our superior
performance over the years. On an annual basis the senior
executives meet to forecast the group’s profile five years into the
future. Each key position, from the chief executive downwards, is
examined and career paths are aligned to ensure smooth and
effective succession. We have been in the singularly fortunate
position of being able to plan with certainty as our loss of senior
people for reasons other than retirement has been minimal.
Succession planning is undertaken in a transparent manner so
that our junior members of management are fully aware of the
career opportunities open to them within the group.

Training
Another aspect on which I and my executives have focused 
this year has been training. Whilst this has always been an

important factor in our business, the current shortage of 
skills and the rapid growth the group has achieved over the 
last few years has placed greater emphasis on the training
imperative.

A concerted effort has been made throughout the group to
identify suitable candidates at all levels to undergo intensive 
in-house and external training sessions in order to equip them to
assume greater responsibility in our operations. I am pleased to
report that the results achieved have been highly satisfactory
and a culture of training and career path development has
become ingrained throughout WBHO.

Prospects
As stated above we do not foresee any decrease in construction
activity going forward. However, prospects for new work are likely
to be higher in the civil engineering than in the building sector.
One of the strengths of WBHO is its ability to rapidly switch 
from one discipline to the other. Subject to any unforeseen
circumstances we therefore expect to achieve both higher
revenue and profits in the new financial year.

Appreciation
I would like to pay a special tribute to our talented employees.
The sense of duty and the extraordinary efforts of our people at
all levels is a constant source of pride. The outstanding results
achieved year after year are testament to this.

Mike Wylie
Chairman

Johannesburg
25 September 2007
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1. Michael Stanley Wylie (57)   Pr Eng, BSc (Eng), BCom (Hons)
Chairman

Mike joined WBHO Construction (Pty) Limited three years after graduating from the University of Cape
Town. He was appointed managing director of the construction division in 1988 and assumed the role of
chairman in 2002. He is co-chairman of the Construction Industry Charter Group and is a member of the
board of the Construction Industry Development Board (CIDB). He is also an adviser to the Deputy
President’s Joint Initiative on Priority Skills Acquisition (JIPSA).

2. Brian Graham Holmes (70)*   BSc (Eng)
Brian was one of the founder members of WBHO Construction (Pty) Limited in 1970 and was the
chairman of the group from 1994 to 2002. He is a past president of SAFCEC and is a former director of
the South African National Roads Agency.

3. Malcolm William McCulloch (53)*   CA(SA)
Malcolm has occupied a senior executive position in the construction industry for many years. He
participated in the Advanced Management Programme at the Wharton School of Business, University of
Pennsylvania, and is currently on the boards of a number of companies, including Wilderness Safaris
Limited and The Kelly Group Limited. He has been a board member since 2003.

4. John Wells Abbott (56)   BSc (TRP), BCom, BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)
John worked in the auditing profession until 1985 when he moved to the construction industry. He was
appointed to the board of WBHO Construction (Pty) Limited in 1996 and in October 2005 was appointed
to the board of Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited.

5. James Matingi Ngobeni* (55)   BA (Hons) Geography, MCRP
He obtained his masters degree in city and regional planning from the University of Cape Town.

He is currently managing director of Matingi and Associates, a town planning, transport planning, project
and construction management company, where he is responsible for the co-ordination and management
of finance and operations.

James is currently on the boards of the MAMOET Southern Africa (Pty) Limited, the South African Council
for Planners, Rand Airport (Germiston), Matingi & Associates CC, Ilembe Consortium, and 
Co-chairperson of the Construction Sector Charter.

6. Nonhlanhla Sylvia Mjoli-Mncube* (49)   BA, MCRP
She obtained her masters degree in city and regional planning from the University of Cape Town. 

Nonhlanhla is presently the economic adviser to the Deputy President, focusing on ASGISA. Nonhlanhla
is currently on the boards of the Rural Housing Loan Fund and NURCHA, the Construction Industry
Development Board, President of South African Women’s Entrepreneurial Network (SAWEN), 
Capitec Bank Holdings Limited, Pioneer Foods, Cadiz Holdings and Lafarge Cement (Pty) Limited.

Nonhlanha has been the winner of several prestigious awards, including Business Woman of the Year
(SABC), Finance Woman of the Year (Department of Housing) and being selected to form part of the Top
10 Black Leaders, selected by the Black Management Forum.

7. Nonhlanhla Savannah Maziya* (39)   BCom (Hons), MBA
Her current position is group CEO of Bunengi Holdings, a company with mining and infrastructure
divisions. Savannah previously occupied the position of CEO of African Broadcast Network (the largest
TV network in Africa with over 120 million viewers), for two years.

Savannah is currently on the boards of the CIDB, SRX Uranium One, Aflease Gold, Phumani Paper and
is a member of the King of Swaziland’s Economic Advisory Board. 

*Non-executive

DIRECTORATE



AR/07 page 09

Experience and
transformation

1, 2
3, 4, 5
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OPERATIONAL
REVIEW

At the year end the group’s order book
was at a record R10,6 billion of which
R7,1 billion is to be completed in the
financial year ending June 2008.

Operating profit
up 59% to
R416 million



FINANCIAL REVIEW
This year the group’s revenue was R8,1 billion, a 40,3% increase
over the previous year (2006: R5,8 billion). Operating profit grew
by 58,6% to R416 million (2006: R262 million) and adjusted
headline earnings (before the share-based black economic
empowerment expense) increased to R311 million (2006:
R195 million), a 59,4% improvement over the previous year.

Dividends relating to the year have increased by 49,4% compared
to the increase in earnings per share of 40,5%. The group has
continued to grow within the strong economic environment in
South Africa and over-border. These conditions have resulted in
operating profit margins increasing from 4,5% to 5,1%. 

Capital expenditure of R345 million was incurred during the year
(2006: R200 million) and we are budgeting for capital
expenditure of R381 million during the next financial year.

The net cash position increased from R626 million last year to
R1,3 billion in 2007. A large portion of this cash is held in joint
ventures and by our Australian operations and will be absorbed
as a number of recently awarded large contracts go into full
production.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Roads and earthworks division
The roads and earthworks (R&E) division  is headed up by Kobie
Botha (55 years), a civil engineer who has been with WBHO for
29 years with 31 years experience in the construction industry.
He is ably assisted by five regional and two subsidiary
managing directors. R&E achieved a 6,6% increase in operating
profit increasing to R76 million (2006: R71 million) for the year
under review.

The overall operating profit margin was 4,1% (2006: 6,1%). Profit
recognition has been extremely conservative to take account of
the risks on contracts in various African states as well as the early
stages of some major contracts in these countries. 

The roads and earthworks sector is very buoyant at present and
the turnover for R&E for next financial year is expected to
increase by about 38%. Already 72% of the work budgeted for
next year has been secured and the division is thus in a strong
position to produce good results in 2008.

RSA
The managing director for this region is Peter Taylor, a 55 year
old civil engineer with 13 years of service with WBHO and 
29 years experience. During the year under review, the region
completed the infrastructure for developments such as Gardener
Ross Golf Estate and Val de Vie Winelands and Lifestyle Estate.
The construction of the Nondela Golf Estate has also
commenced. Impounding of water at the Berg River Dam started
during the winter rainy season and the works are expected to be
completed by the end of March 2008. The contract for the
construction of Echo apron and associated works at the OR
Tambo International Airport was successfully completed and we

have commenced work on the recently awarded King Shaka
International Airport (KSIA) contract near Ballito.

Mining and industrial infrastructure work is at a high level and
major contracts such as Mafube for Anglo Coal and Sapref for
BP & Shell are on programme and progressing well.

Coastal
The regional managing director is Denis Bean (51 years), a civil
engineer with 25 years service and 27 years experience. During
the year the road project at Ugie in the Eastern Cape was
completed and handed over whilst work on the Mt Frere road
contract, awarded during the year, is progressing well. The
region has assisted in constructing the infrastructures of the
Simbithi Eco Estate and St Francis Links Golf Estate.

International
There are three managing directors associated with our over-
border businesses. Terry Beckermann, a 56 year old civil
engineer who has 27 years service with the group and 
32 years experience, oversees contracts in Botswana and
Swaziland. The Mbabane Bypass contract in Swaziland, now
worth R815 million, is progressing well. In Botswana, the
division is involved in mining and industrial contracts as well 
as various water infrastructure contracts for the Botswana
government.

The managing director in Mozambique is Mike Adams, a
51 year old with six years service and 27 years in construction.
The Zandamela section of the EN 1 in Mozambique was
completed and handed over and industrial work at the Maputo
harbour is ongoing. 

Mike Sprott, who manages R&E’s contracts further afield in
Africa and oversees our civil engineering colleagues in Australia,
is a qualified, 53 year old civil engineer with 22 years service with
WBHO and 27 years experience. In Zambia, the original contract
for infrastructure at the Lumwana Copper Mine is close to
completion. Additional work has been negotiated with the client
and work will continue into the third quarter of the new financial
year. R&E has grown its African footprint by securing
infrastructure work and a tailings dam contract at the Tenke Mine
in the Katanga province of the DRC. 

WBHO Golf
Matkovich & Hayes is managed by Andy Bean, who has five
years service with the group and 10 years experience in golf
course construction. This subsidiary successfully completed
and handed over golf courses at Pinnacle Point, Simbithi,
Cotswold, Monument, Hermanus and Richards Bay during the
year under review.  Work commenced on the Waterberg Golf
Estate near Bela Bela. WBHO Golf is currently busy with the
construction of the Ernie Els signature golf course at Nondela
in the Drakensberg.

Insitu Pipelines
WBHO acquired a controlling share in Insitu Pipelines (Pty)
Limited with effect from 1 July 2007. The company specialises
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Both operating profit and adjusted headline earnings up 59%.



OPERATIONAL REVIEW continued

in the construction and rehabilitation of water, sewer and gas
pipelines using trenchless and conventional methods. 

Arbitrations
The Mahalapye contract arbitration in Botswana was awarded in
our favour during the year. The Francistown arbitration has still
not been resolved.

With regard to the Lesotho road contract arbitration, the
tribunal made an interim award on the merits of the case in our
favour and has appointed an independent expert to value the
quantum. The final award is expected during the coming
financial year.

Building and Civil division
This division had an excellent year increasing revenue by 30,6%
to R5,7 billion (2006: R4,4 billion) and operating profit from R152
million to R222 million a 46,4% increase. The order book at the
year end was R7,1 billion including the Cape Town, Durban and
Polokwane stadia and the KSIA. 

North Region
Louwtjie Nel, a 46 year old civil engineer, is the managing
director of this region and has 21 years service with the group
and in the industry. With turnover approaching R2 billion, the
North has experienced an exceptional year, successfully
completing a number of major projects such as the Emperor
apartments in Sandton, the Woolworths Central Distribution
centre in Midrand, a number of shopping centres including the
Greenstone Mall, the Highveld Mall, the Menlyn Shopping Centre
Parkade and the Montana Value Mart, as well as offices for
Momentum in Centurion and additions and upgrades to various
health facilities for Netcare.

Work is progressing well on the Central Terminal Building at 
OR Tambo International Airport with all the main structural
concrete work now complete. We are busy with a number of
contracts including the Fairlands Project for RMB, the upgrading
of the Norwood Shopping Centre, extensions to Investec’s
Sandton head office and the upgrade of Sun City Hotel.

A significant event was the award, as lead partner, of the
Polokwane Stadium, which is now fully resourced and is well on
track for completion in mid 2009. Although currently operating at
full capacity we expect to start a number of major projects in the
new year as existing work moves through the pipeline.

Cape
There have been a number of management changes during the
year with Ray Gamble, Piet Groenhof, Malcolm Knight and Mike
Lewis retiring from the divisional board and moving full time onto
the Green Point Stadium contract. They have been replaced with
young, energetic directors under the leadership of Nick McKinley
(48 years old), a qualified civil engineer who has been with WBHO
for 23 years and has 23 years experience.

Even with the upturn in the construction industry, the Cape had
a year of mixed fortunes. The revenue was lower than forecast

due to the delayed start of several large contracts such as
Green Point Stadium and the One & Only Hotel at the
Waterfront. Despite the reduced revenue the budgeted contract
profit was achieved.

The division used this period to concentrate on training and
mentoring its workforce in anticipation of the additional workload
which would occur in the new financial year.

Once again contracts for apartment blocks proved to be more
challenging than anticipated, absorbing large teams of
experienced staff and achieving lower than expected returns.
Contracts for office blocks, shopping centres and hospitals
remain in good supply and are earning acceptable returns. The
team responsible for the contract for the extension of the
GrandWest Casino is to be commended for handing over the
contract on time, according to specification and with no
contractual issues.

The coming year bodes well, as we commence the year with an
order book equal to 75% of budgeted revenue. 

Eastern Cape
This region, led by Arnie van Jaarsveldt, a 53 year old engineer
with 22 years service and 27 years experience, had another good
year with increased profits being achieved whilst turnover
remained stable. Eastern Cape saw the successful completion
and handing over of the balance of the works at the new
Mercedes Benz motor dealership, Maritime Motors, the Mercado
Spar Shopping Centre in Summerstrand and some apartment
blocks along the Port Elizabeth beachfront.

The Langeberg Mall Shopping Centre in Mossel Bay was handed
over on time and the refurbishment and extensions to the Cleary
Park Shopping Centre in Port Elizabeth went well. The St Francis
Golf Links clubhouse was opened on time, having produced a
building of the required high quality. 

Current contracts in progress, all due for completion during the
first half of the coming financial year, include the Kings Mall, a
mixed-use retail centre and apartment block, the Moffett on Main
Lifestyle Shopping Centre also in Port Elizabeth, and the
Gonubie Shopping Centre in East London.

Conditions in the Eastern Cape, and in particular the Port
Elizabeth Metropole, remain buoyant with work having
commenced on the new five star Radisson Hotel and The
Fountains, a new 30 000m2 shopping centre in Jeffreys Bay. Two
hospitals are scheduled to start during the month of August
2007, one in Grahamstown and the other in Port Alfred. 

The size of the order book for the Eastern Cape indicates that
revenue for the next financial year is set to be more than
double that of last year, with over 90% of budgeted revenue
already secured.

KwaZulu-Natal (KZN)
The KZN region achieved significantly higher profits compared to
last year. After successfully managing the division for 21 years,
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Mike Weeden retired and Ronnie Pillay (50 years) became the
managing director. He has been with the group for 25 years.
This year KZN successfully completed the International
Convention Centre and the Alberlito Hospital contracts. In
addition, we have been awarded additional work at the IDZ
project in East London. St Lucy’s Hospital in Tsolo is
progressing well and is on track for its completion in July 2008.
The recent awards of the New Durban Stadium and the KSIA,
both being undertaken in joint ventures, will augment our order
book for a number of years. KZN has also managed to secure
the contract to expand the Huletts factory in Pietermaritzburg as
a 50% joint venture partner. The division is budgeting for
increased profits in the new financial year.

Civils 
This division is led by Paul Netscher, a civil engineer who started
his career with the group and has been with us for 
23 years. The division increased both turnover and profit
significantly this financial year. Contracts at Project Lion and for
IFM were both successfully completed. The new concentrator
for Potgietersrust Platinum is substantially complete as is the
contract for the civil works for the Automotive Supplier Park in
East London. A number of new projects have recently started,
including contracts for Anglo Platinum, Impala Platinum and
Middelburg Ferrochrome.  

The division has been strengthened by the recent acquisition of
L.E.T. Construction (Pty) Limited and also by the success of a
vigorous in-house training programme implemented over the
past three years. We start the new year with an order book of
over R650 million and revenue and profit are again expected to
increase.

Australia
Probuild Constructions is WBHO’s Australian subsidiary with
operations in Melbourne, Sydney, Brisbane and Perth. The
main sphere of the group’s activities is in Melbourne where
conditions continue to be competitive. As a result profits in this
area were lower than those achieved in the previous year on the
same level of turnover.

The group’s subsidiary in Brisbane, Basic Construction, is a civil
engineering contractor and as a result of a marked increase in
the allocation of State funds to infrastructural works the
company has been very busy, increasing turnover by 22%.
Profits have increased several fold largely due to profits in the
previous year being affected by heavy rains.

We have also consolidated our position in Sydney and managed
to increase turnover by over 70% in a very tight market. We
have now reached the stage where we are confident that we can
sustain a long-term business in this city and have purchased
our own premises which we will be occupying within the next
few months.

The commodity boom has spurred exceptional growth in
Western Australia, particularly in Perth. We commenced our first
contract during the year and have recently been awarded a
contract for the construction of an office block in the Perth CBD
worth over A$200 million.

C.E.C.K., which operates as a civil engineering contractor in
Perth, achieved both its turnover and profit budgets for the year.

Overall the Probuild group produced both turnover and profits
higher than those of the previous year and is budgeting for
profits next year of the same order as those achieved this year.

Property and concessions
Property
Mike Simpson, a chartered accountant, heads up the property
development division and has 15 years service with the group
and 30 years experience overall. During the year WBHO
successfully completed the development of the new head 
office for Bigen Engineering at the Innovation Hub in Pretoria.
Another successful development has been the St Francis 
Links estate. The golf course was designed by Jack Nicklaus,
who stated at the official opening that he believed that 
St Francis Links could become one of the best links golf courses
in the world.
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Each key position, from the chief executive downwards, is examined and
career paths are aligned to ensure smooth and effective succession.

Delivering quality on time and
within budget



OPERATIONAL REVIEW continued

Transfer of the properties at St Francis Links commenced in
September 2006, and to date 486 of the 553 available erven
have been transferred. Simbithi Eco Estate also opened its
par 60 executive golf course during the year, and this new
concept in golfing has also been well received. Since the
announcement of the commencement of the new KSIA, there
has been an upturn in interest in this development.

Concessions
This department is ably led by Duncan Barry, a 58 year 
old civil engineer who has been with WBHO for five years
and has 35 years experience in the construction industry. During
the past year Concessions has concentrated on the bid for the
KSIA, a green field project near Ballito in KZN. WBHO is the lead
partner on the KSIA and Duncan, who led the Ilembe bid, will
now lead the design and construct team.

Our participation in the Mozambican gas project continues with
exciting prospects for the future.

Industrial division
Capital Africa Steel
This wholly owned subsidiary is an investment holding company
with a 78% interest in Reinforcing and Mesh Solutions (Pty)
Limited (RMS) and a 50% interest in Dywidag Systems
International (Pty) Limited (Dywidag).

RMS
As a supplier of a basic material to the construction industry,
RMS has benefited from the upswing in activity. The group’s
facilities throughout South Africa are all operating at near peak
capacity and as a result turnover reflected an increase of 62%
for the year. 

With an upsurge in infrastructural projects expected in the new
year activity is expected to remain at a high level.

Dywidag
Supplies roof support systems to the mining industry. 
The Gautrain project has also been a welcome source of new
work. The company is expected to record satisfactory increases
in both turnover and profit for 2007.

Prospects
We start the 2008 financial year with an order book of 
R10,6 billion (2006: R6,1 billion) of which R7,1 billion will be
carried out in the 2008 year. The nature of our order book has
changed with a greater number of large contracts being spread
over longer time periods. Our outlook for the construction
industry remains positive with prospects for new work more
likely to arise in the civil engineering sector than in the building
sector. We believe we are well placed to benefit from this shift in
the industry.
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Our outlook for the construction industry remains positive and we believe we
are well placed to benefit from the upturn.

Training and educating our
employees for the future
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited is committed to the
principles of integrity, accountability and transparency as set out
in the King Report on Corporate Governance in South Africa,
2002 (the Code). The board recognises the importance of sound
corporate governance principles in its dealings with all
stakeholders and carries out its responsibilities based on these
principles. 

Board of directors
The board comprises seven directors chaired by Mr MS Wylie.
In accordance with sound corporate governance principles, the
board has a majority of five non-executive directors, all of
whom are independent. The day-to-day affairs of the group are
the responsibility of two of the divisional managing directors.
The board is responsible for setting strategy, monitoring
succession planning, determining investment policy and
reviewing quarterly performance in detail against previously
approved budgets. The board is responsible for identifying risk
areas and for monitoring them. The board meets four times a
year on a formal basis.  

None of the directors has service contracts with the company.
One-third of the directors retire each year by rotation and 
re-appointment is subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the annual general meeting. All the directors of WBHO have
access to the advice and services of the company secretary and
are entitled to seek independent professional advice regarding
the affairs of the company at the company’s expense, should
they feel that it is necessary to do so. Non-executive directors
are entitled to meet with members of management without
executive directors being present.  

The directors currently participating in the WBHO BEE Share
purchase arrangement are Mr JM Ngobeni, Mesdames
NS Maziya and NS Mjoli-Mncube. The remaining directors are
not participants in the company’s share schemes.

Remuneration committee
The remuneration committee consists of three non-executive
directors, Mr MW McCulloch, Ms NS Maziya and is chaired by
Mr BG Holmes. The committee met once this year and
management attend meetings by invitation. 

Responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:
• Determining the remuneration packages and conditions of

employment of the group executive directors;
• Reviewing the company’s retirement funding policies;
• Recommending allocations in terms of the company’s share

purchase and share option schemes;
• Reviewing the annual bonuses; and
• Recommending the appointment of new directors through a

formal and transparent procedure.

The group’s remuneration philosophy is to pay its directors,
executives and staff competitive and appropriately

structured remuneration packages and to reward them over
and above this by the inclusion of incentive bonuses and by
participation in share schemes at levels based on results
achieved.

Audit committee
The audit committee consists of three non-executive directors,
Messrs JM Ngobeni, BG Holmes and is chaired by
Mr MW McCulloch. The committee met once this  year and
management as well as internal and external auditors  attend
meetings by invitation. Both the head of the internal audit
department and the external audit partners have unrestricted
access to the audit committee.  

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:
• Overseeing the internal audit function;
• Reviewing and amending the group’s internal controls and

operating procedures to suit changing circumstances;
• Reviewing the systems in place to ensure that the business

risk areas are identified and that management institute
appropriate controls and manage risk effectively;

• Reviewing the financial reporting including specific
disclosures in compliance with accounting standards;

• Reviewing the audit recommendations; and
• Setting the principles for recommending the use of the

external auditors for non-audit services.

The systems in place are considered to be adequate to provide
reasonable assurance against material loss through fraud or
unauthorised use of the group’s assets and that all transactions
are properly authorised and recorded.

The audit committee includes risk management in its portfolio
and reports to the board on setting out its evaluation of the risks
faced by the company and the recommended strategies for
mitigating the impact thereof on the company. Responsibility for
risk identification, evaluation and management remains with 
the board.

Nomination committee
We do not have a nomination committee but the board
undertakes a self-evaluation process on an annual basis.

Risk management committee
At present we do not have a risk committee in place. The audit
committee is responsible for assessing the risks to which the
group is exposed.  

The audit committee reports to the board on a regular basis
setting out its evaluation of the risks faced by the company and
the recommended strategies for mitigating the impact thereof on
the company. Responsibility for risk identification, evaluation and
management remains with the board.

The company has a confidential reporting process in place.
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Attendance at meetings
Attendance by the directors at the meetings held during the year is recorded below:

NS Mjoli-
Date MS Wylie JW Abbott BG Holmes MW McCulloch JM Ngobeni Mncube NS Maziya

Board meetings
23/08/2006 P P P P * * *
01/12/2006 P P P P P P P
07/03/2007 P P P P P P P
11/05/2007 P P P A P A P

Audit committee
20/03/2007 P P P P P n/a n/a

Remuneration committee
05/03/2007 P P P P n/a n/a P

P = Present at meeting                    A = Apologies submitted                    * = Appointed 27 October 2006  

Management continuity

Average Average
Senior years of Average years
management Number service age experience

Executive 8 23 53 30
Regional managing 

directors 11 18 52 29
Divisional directors 30 19 47 23
Alternate divisional 

directors 28 13 42 18

Total 77 17 47 23

Compliance with the Code
We complied with the Code throughout the year ended 30 June
2007 except for the following:
• One director failed to attend the general meeting, being the

chairperson of the main board; and
• The chairperson, Mr MS Wylie is not independent.

Non-executive directors’ fees
The remuneration of the non-executive directors is approved 
by the shareholders in  terms of the company’s Articles of
Association. An analysis of directors’ remuneration, share
options and shareholding is disclosed on pages 57, 52 and 29 of
this report.

Conflicts of interest and share dealings
The board stipulates that directors must disclose any potential
conflict of interest and any other directorships held by them.
Directors are prohibited from dealing in the company’s shares

during closed periods which extend from 1 January and 1 July to
the interim and year end result announcement dates
respectively. In addition, directors and divisional directors cannot
trade during any period where they have access to price-
sensitive information.  

Going concern
The directors are of the opinion that the business will remain a
going concern in the year ahead and a statement in this regard
is also contained in the statement on the responsibility of the
directors for the annual financial statements.

Employment equity
The group is an equal-opportunity employer and no
discrimination is made based on race, gender or creed. We 
are also committed to a policy of affirmative action and each
divisional board has been charged with the responsibility of
uplifting the historically disadvantaged segments of our society
and for providing training for all our employees so that they can
develop to their full potential.

A variety of participative structures have been established 
to attend to matters concerning the well-being and advancement
of our employees and to ensure harmony in the workplace.

Ethics
The group strives to conduct its business fairly and honestly and
with consideration to the long-term needs of all its stakeholders,
whether they be customers, employees, shareholders,
subcontractors, suppliers or service providers.
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Senior management have an
average of 17 years service
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RESPONSIBILITY
REPORT

Training and development is primarily
aimed at the accelerated development 
of junior management and on-site skills
training.

Education,
development
and promotion
within the group
is a priority



Employment equity and empowerment
WBHO regards adherence to the principles of Employment
Equity as an imperative for the continued growth and success of
the group. Progress in achieving equity targets is monitored on a
quarterly basis at board level.

The management of WBHO has committed itself to an
employment equity policy, which will recruit, develop and

promote previously disadvantaged individuals with the
appropriate qualifications and experience.

It is our intention to play a meaningful role in expediting the
implementation of black economic empowerment objectives as
envisaged by various government agencies.
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The group strives to conduct its business fairly and honestly and with
consideration to the long-term needs of all its stakeholders, whether they 
be customers, employees, shareholders, subcontractors, suppliers or service
providers.

The table below reflects the demographics of WBHO’s employees as at 30 June 2007*

Designated Non-designated
White 

Occupational Male Female male Foreign nationals
levels A C I A C I W W Male Female Total

Top management 4 1 3 – – 1 – 75 – – 84

Senior management 3 – 4 – – – 3 50 – – 60

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-management 62 20 20 6 2 1 16 132 – – 259

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, 
foremen, and 
superintendents 510 100 26 12 2 – 5 222 – – 877

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision making 1 856 143 19 86 29 15 79 141 – – 2 368

Unskilled and 
defined decision 
making 1 607 39 2 89 12 – – 4 – – 1 753

Total permanent 4 042 303 74 193 45 17 103 624 – – 5 401

Non-permanent 
employees 2 763 44 1 94 – – – 6 – – 2 908

Grand total 6 805 347 75 287 45 17 103 630 – – 8 309

*Excludes Australian operations

A = African
C = Coloured
I = Indian
W = White



RESPONSIBILITY REPORT continued

Skills development
WBHO has a policy of training, developing and promoting
people from within the group. In order to achieve scorecard
targets WBHO is dedicated to implementing meaningful training
initiatives. 

Training and development is primarily aimed at the accelerated
development of junior management and on-site skills training.
Focus has been placed on engineer development programmes,
foreman learnerships and the development of critical skills. Our
bursary programme sponsors students such that supervisors,
technicians and graduates become available each year. 

We are fully compliant with the Skills Development Act, Skills
Development Levies Act and CETA, having met all the
requirements for full grant reimbursement.

HIV/AIDS
Following on from the successful implementation of the
Awareness, Counselling and Testing (ACT) programme where
80% of our employees were tested for the virus, WBHO has
implemented an HIV/AIDS Patient Management Programme with
an external managed healthcare service provider. 

Of the HIV+ employees who have registered with the above
management programme, seven employees are receiving anti-
retroviral treatment through State run clinics and the balance are
being monitored through monthly blood pathology testing and
ongoing counselling.

Environmental concerns
We are committed to maintaining proper environmental
practice, and are continually updating and improving our
systems and procedures. Before arrival on sites
environmental impact analyses are conducted and all the
conditions set out in these reports are strictly adhered 

to and implemented. Our operations are monitored by 
the project managers and our own Health, Safety and
Environmental officer. 

Health and safety
We are pleased to report that we have reduced our lost-time
injury frequency rate (LTIFR) to 2,9, better than the target of 
3,0 set and well below the 3,5 recorded last year, a reduction
of 17,1%.

The LTIFR number is the number of lost-time injuries incurred for
every million hours worked over the financial year. This year,
unfortunately we suffered three fatalities from different
subcontractors and one WBHO employee.

We continue to educate and make the employees and
subcontractors aware of all aspects of health, safety and
environment.

Motor vehicle and plant accidents
The cost of accidents during the year was R2,9 million (2006:
R2,4 million), an increase of 20,8%. The accident rate has
remained at 6,1 accidents per million kilometres travelled. 

The percentage of accidents caused by negligence was 59%
(2006: 70%) of the total and we aim to reduce this percentage
next year. We continue to place emphasis on the operator and
driver training and awareness programmes.

Social investment
The group was involved in the following social initiatives during
the year:

• The upgrade of the laboratories and computer rooms for the

Department of the Built Environment at Wits University was
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Supervisory      –  1 162 employees

Administrative  –  557 employees

Production       –  6 590 employees

Cape                –  1 139 employees

Eastern Cape    –  952 employees

KwaZulu Natal  –  480 employees

North               –  4 597 employees

Overborder       –  1 141 employees

Africans      –  7 092 employees

Coloureds  –  392 employees

Indians       –  92 employees

Whites        –  733 employees

Employees by activity Employees by region Employees by race



Safety awareness 
is always first

completed earlier this year. This programme is being

supported by a number of construction companies. 

• In a partnership with Grinaker/LTA and the Department of

Public Works the construction of three science classrooms for

Thembeka High School near Nelspruit was completed and

handed over this year. 

• Once again this year we have entered into a scheme,

together with a number of other large companies, and the

Department of Education, to search for school learners who

have potential in science, mathematics and accounting. The

programme last year was successful and this year has been

increased from three to five provinces: Gauteng, KZN, Cape

and the two new provinces Limpopo and Mpumalanga. 

• We continue our work with the Midrand Industrial Park Owners

Association in Klipfontein and Mayibuye townships whereby

we are providing assistance to these communities in

infrastructural needs for the schools, the policing forum and

the community.

• During the year we supported the Penryn Trust initiative to

train black teachers in Mpumalanga.

• In the Cape the group has supported the “Go for Gold”

campaign aimed at encouraging young black students to

follow a career in engineering.

• Our building division renovated the facilities at the Mamelodi

Church Hall in Tshwane.

• The up and coming black golf player, James Kamte was

sponsored by the group this year and came 25th in the Sun

Shine Tour in RSA. 

• We also financed the Business Against Crime initiative and

hope that inroads are being made in combating crime in

South Africa.

• We have been actively involved in educating our employees

about HIV/AIDS awareness following the initiative in 2005/6

whereby we tested over 80% of our employees for the virus. 

• In Khayelitsha in the Cape we are presently assisting 
St Theresa Aids Orphanage with improving and renovating
their facilities.

• Also in the Cape we are financing and overseeing the
construction of a library for the Sid. G. Rule Primary School in
Grassy Park.

• In KZN we have built a Community Sports Hall at KwaXimba
for the Ethekewini Municipality; this was done in partnership
with other construction companies.

• Once again we sponsored a school in the JSE competition.
• A number of smaller educational and health organisations

have benefited from our assistance this last financial year.
• Our group policy of improving the health and general welfare

of the communities who reside close to our construction sites
is still being actively pursued.
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We have been actively involved during the year educating our employees about
HIV/AIDS awareness following the initiative in 2005/6 whereby we tested over
80% of our employees for the virus.
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Setting the
standards for
the industry 
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AWARDS 2007

SAFETY AWARDS

professional management review (PMR)
WBHO are extremely proud to be awarded a silver, a gold, and eight PMR Diamond Arrow Awards in a row
for the highest rated construction company overall. The results were based on 164 respondents, comprising
53 architects, 35 consulting engineers, 25 developers and 50 quantity surveyors. This is the eighth time that
the group has received this prestigious award and the tenth time we have been rated best overall
construction company. 

safety
WBHO Midrand Plant Yard were privileged to win 1st Place in the Gauteng Master Builders Association
(MBA) 2007 Regional Safety Competition in the construction plant yard category. This is the third time we
have won the competition.

In addition, WBHO Cape Plant Yard won 1st Place in the Western Cape Master Builders Association 2007
Safety Competition.

work/life balance
Apart from receiving numerous awards for their excellence in construction Probuild Constructions have
recently received the Rising Star Award from the federal government for the significant steps the company has
taken to build a workplace culture that respects the need for work and family/life balance. No other
construction company in Australia has received this recognition.

Regional safety awards to various contracts for 2007 are noted below:

1st place
• New Durban Stadium 1st in Regional KZN MBA competition   Over R500 million

• Fairlands JV   1st place in regional GMBA competition   Over R500 million

• Moffet on Main 1st in Regional Eastern Cape MBA competition
2nd in MBSA National competition   R200 – R500 million

• ELIDZ   1st in Regional Eastern Cape MBA competition   R200 – R500 million

• Kings Mall 1st in Regional Eastern Cape MBA competition
1st in MBSA National competition   R120 – R200 million

• Gonubie Shopping Centre 1st in Regional Eastern Cape MBA competition   R120 – R200 million

2nd place
• Sun City extension 2nd Place in Regional GMBA competition

• Head Office extension   2nd Place in Regional GMBA competition   R20 – R50 million

• Clinton Hospital 2nd Place in Regional GMBA competition

3rd place
• Investec 3rd Place in Regional GMBA competition   R200 – R500 million
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for the years ended 30 June

SHAREHOLDER
ANALYSIS

Number of % of Number of % of
shareholders total shares total

Holdings
1 to 500 1 976 39,9 536 310 0,8

501 to 1 000 1 159 23,4 946 066 1,4
1 001 to 5 000 1 302 26,3 3 046 779 4,6
5 001 to 10 000 198 4,0 1 498 910 2,3

10 001 to 50 000 192 3,9 4 625 604 7,0
50 001 to 100 000 42 0,7 3 042 736 4,6

100 001 and over 88 1,8 52 303 595 79,3

4 957 100,0 66 000 000 100,0

Shareholding by category
Individuals 3 359 67,8 9 359 231 14,2
Trusts 960 19,4 17 930 996 27,2
Investment funds 63 1,3 1 593 188 2,4
Companies 184 3,7 17 407 703 26,4
Insurance companies 281 5,7 13 094 609 19,8
Retirement funds 7 0,1 17 062 0
Banks 28 0,5 5 343 167 8,1
Close corporations 72 1,4 1 254 032 1,9
Other 3 0,1 12 0

4 957 100,0 66 000 000 100,0

2007 2006
Number of % Number of %

shares shareholding shares shareholding

Public 42 283 482 64,1 38 150 216 68,8
Non-public 23 716 518 35,9 17 340 284 31,2

Group directors 6 061 687 9,2 5 483 687 9,9
Associates of directors 7 449 581 11,3 10 960 847 19,7
Share schemes 1 416 250 2,1 895 750 1,6
Akani Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited (BEE SPE) 8 789 000 13,3 – –

66 000 000 100,0 55 490 500 100,0

Major shareholders
PIC Equity 4 178 147 6,3 – –
Investec Special Focus Fund – – 3 173 632 5,7
JP Morgan Chase Bank 3 354 310 5,1 – –

Pursuant to Section 140(A) of the Companies Act of South Africa, the above beneficial shareholdings exceed 5% in aggregate, as at
30 June 2007.



AR/07 page 25

Adding value to our stakeholders
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Share statistics 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Trade in WBHO  shares on the JSE Limited

Number of shares traded (000) 22 186 22 557 15 620 17 090 14 150 18 242

Number traded as % of issued shares 33,6 40,7 28,2 30,8 25,5 32,8

Number of transactions 8 722 6 446 3 321 1 933 1 543 1 384

Value of shares traded (R000) 1 751 664 1 075 880 379 422 270 027 132 284 125 133

High (cents) 10 980 6 150 3 100 1 900 1 120 760

Low (cents) 5 056 2 950 1 800 1 000 700 625



STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of Wilson Bayly Holmes-
Ovcon Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial statements, presented on pages 28 to 74, have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Companies Act in South Africa, and include amounts based on
judgements and estimates made by management. The directors have also prepared the other information included in the annual
report and are responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency with the financial statements.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the group and
place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable directors to meet these responsibilities, the
board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include
the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation
of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances
is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing and monitoring all known forms of risk
across the group. Whilst operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on information and explanations given by management and the internal auditors, that the
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the
financial statements. However, a system of internal control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The directors have no reason to believe that the
company or the group will not be going concerns in the foreseeable future based on forecasts and available cash resources. The
viability of the company and the group is supported by the financial statements.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent auditors, BDO Spencer Steward (Johannesburg) Inc, who were given
unrestricted access to all financial records and the related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board of
directors and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their
audit were valid and appropriate. BDO Spencer Steward’s unqualified audit report is presented on page 27.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 25 September 2007 and are signed on its behalf.

MS Wylie NS Maziya
Chairman Director

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE BY THE
COMPANY SECRETARY

I confirm that the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies in respect of the year ended 30 June 2007 all returns which
are required to be lodged by a public company in terms of the Companies Act of 1973, as amended, and that all such returns are
true, correct and up to date.

MF Simpson
Company secretary
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WILSON BAYLY HOLMES-OVCON LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements and group annual financial statements of Wilson Bayly Holmes-
Ovcon Limited, which comprise the directors’ report, the balance sheet as at 30 June 2007, the income statement, the statement of
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes as set out on pages 28 to 74.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The group’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the company and the group as
of 30 June 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

BDO Spencer Steward (Johannesburg) Incorporated
Registered Auditors

13 Wellington Road
Parktown 2193

25 September 2007
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Nature of business
The company is listed on the JSE securities exchange (JSE) operated by JSE Limited and is the holding company of a number of
subsidiary companies principally engaged in civil engineering and building contracting activities in the Republic of South Africa and
internationally.

Group results
Gross revenue increased by 40,3% to R8,1 billion (2006: R5,8 billion), generating an operating profit of R415,9 million (2006: 
R262,2 million) which represents an increase of 58,6% over the previous year. Adjusted headline earnings for the year amounted to
R311 million (2006: R195 million), an increase of 59,4%. The consolidated income statement is set out on page 39.

Interest in subsidiaries
Details of principal subsidiary companies are reflected on page 71. The full list of subsidiary companies is available on request from
the company secretary.  

The holding company is an investment company and consequently all profits in the group income statement were earned by subsidiary
companies. No material losses were incurred by the subsidiaries in the current year.

Dependent upon profits earned and the availability of cash, the policy of the company is to pay an interim dividend in April and a final
dividend in October of each year. The final dividend is approximately twice the value of the interim dividend. A final dividend of 
85 cents per share in respect of the 2007 year was declared on 24 August 2007. This, together with the dividend of 36 cents per
share at the interim stage results in a total payment to shareholders for the year of 121 cents per share (2006: 81 cents).

Share capital
In July 2006, 520 500 shares were allotted and issued to the WBHO Share Trust at R49,85 per share. The company advanced the
sum of R25,9 million to the trust to enable it to purchase the shares.

In terms of the company’s BEE initiative the directors, pursuant to authority granted to them by shareholders at a general meeting
held on 11 October 2006, allotted and issued 9 989 000 ordinary shares to Akani Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited at par for cash.

After the above transactions the company’s issued share capital amounted to 66 000 000 ordinary shares.

The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors, subject to the regulations of the JSE, until the next annual general
meeting to be held on 24 October 2007. At this meeting, shareholders will be requested to grant the directors the authority to control
10% of the unissued shares until the next annual general meeting.

Share incentive schemes
Details relating to share incentive schemes are disclosed in note 27.

Share incentive schemes are consolidated for the purposes of the group annual financial statements.

During the year the company completed its Black Economic Empowerment initiative for its employees and its selected black
partners, the details of which are disclosed in note 27 of the financial statements.

Borrowing powers
The articles of association place no restrictions on the directors concerning the amount of money the company may borrow.

Directorate
Details concerning the company’s directors, secretary, business and postal addresses are set out on pages 8 and 76.

On 27 October 2006 Mr JN Ngobeni, Ms NS Maziya and Ms NS Mjoli-Mncube were appointed to the board as independent non-
executive directors.

In terms of the company’s articles of association, Messrs MS Wylie and JW Abbott retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Both are eligible for re-election.
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Directors’ shareholding
The interests of the directors and those of their families are as follows:

2007 2006
Ordinary shares Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

JW Abbott 394 000 – 440 000 –
BG Holmes 41 916 2 139 464 41 916 2 639 464
JM Ngobeni – 400 000 – –
NS Maziya – 400 000 – –
NS Mjoli-Mncube – 400 000 – –
PG Theessen* – – 25 218 50 782
MS Wylie 286 307 2 000 000 286 307 2 000 000

722 223 5 339 464 793 441 4 690 246

*Retired

The shares are all held beneficially.

There have been no material changes to directors’ shareholdings between the balance sheet date and the date of this report. 
The composition of the board is disclosed on page 8.

Directors’ interest in contracts 
There were no directors’ interests in contracts during the year. 

Property, plant and equipment
Full details of the property, plant and equipment are reflected on page 43.

Post-balance sheet events
In July 2007 the Competition Tribunal approved, without conditions, the acquisitions by WBHO Construction (Pty) Limited of the entire
issued share capital of L.E.T. Construction (Pty) Limited and seventy per cent of the issued share capital of Insitu Pipelines (Pty)
Limited (note 31).

Special resolutions
The following special resolutions were passed during the year:

Subsidiaries
• Clidet No 654 (Pty) Limited changed its name to Akani Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited (4 October 2006).
• Akani Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited subdivided and increased its authorised share capital to R200 000 divided into 20 000 000

ordinary shares of R0,01 (28 August 2006).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Principal accounting policies
The consolidated and company financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and the Companies Act of South Africa.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for specific financial assets which are stated at fair
value. The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and these accounting policies have been consistently
applied throughout the group to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statements and interpretations
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new and amended Standards and Interpretations were in issue
but not yet effective. None of these Standards or Interpretations are expected to have a significant effect on the results of operations
or the financial position of the group.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Added Disclosures about an Entity’s Capital
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
IFRIC 14 IAS19: The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

Significant judgments and estimates
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates, which may be material to the financial statements.
Significant judgments include:

• Allowance for doubtful debtors
Estimates based on management’s assessment of the likelihood of collecting receivables outstanding for longer than 120 days.

• Allowance for slow-moving, damaged and obsolete stock
Any stock which is slow-moving, damaged or obsolete is written off when identified.

• Property, plant and equipment
Management uses the best available information to make estimates of the residual values and useful lives of items of property,
plant and equipment.

• Impairment testing of goodwill
Management uses the value-in-use or fair value less costs to sell methods to determine the recoverable amount of cash-
generating units that may have been impaired. Additional disclosures of the assumptions and judgements are included in note 2.

• Provisions
Provisions are raised when deemed necessary by management and are based on their estimate of expected outflows using the
information available. Additional disclosures of these estimates of provisions are included in note 12.

• Contracting profit or loss recognition
Profit is recognised on an individual contract basis using the stage-of-completion method, measured by the proportion that costs
incurred to date compare to the estimated total costs of the contract, and management’s assessment of the outstanding risks.
Where a  loss is expected on any contract, provision is made in full.

• Taxation
The group is subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required  in determining the provision for taxes as
the tax treatment cannot be finally determined until a formal assessment has been made by the relevant tax authority.
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• Deferred tax assets
Management estimate the probability of future taxable profits against which unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences can be utilised and raise deferred tax assets to that extent.

• Fair value adjustments to investments in concessions
The fair value of investments in concessions is determined by using discounted cash flow models which take into account
forecasted operating income streams, market-related discount rates and inflation rates. Such models, by nature require
assumptions and judgements regarding the future based on existing market conditions.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include those of the holding company, its subsidiaries, joint ventures, jointly-controlled entities
and associates. All financial results are consolidated with similar items on a line by line basis except for investments in associates,
which are included in the group’s results as set out below.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses between entities are eliminated on consolidation. To the extent
that a loss on a transaction provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss of a
non-current asset, that loss is recognised in the income statement.

In respect of joint ventures, jointly-controlled entities and associates, unrealised gains and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised gains and losses arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the
investment in the associate.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the group has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or the power to govern the
financial and operating policies relevant to the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the acquisition date until the disposal
date or any other date where there is a change in shareholding or control such that the entity becomes or ceases to be a subsidiary.

The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed,
plus any costs directly attributable at the date of acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the group’s
share of the net identifiable assets is recorded as goodwill. Minority interests at the acquisition date is determined as the minority
shareholders’ proportionate share of the fair value of the net assets of subsidiaries acquired.

Associates
An associate entity is one over which the group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control. Investments in
associates are initially recognised at cost. The group’s share of the post-acquisition earnings and reserves of its associates are
incorporated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting, from the effective dates of their acquisition until the
effective dates of their disposal or any other date where there is a change in shareholding or control such that the entity becomes or
ceases to be an associate. Post-acquisition profits are transferred to a non-distributable reserve in line with the directors’
recommendations. The group’s share of post-acquisition losses are recognised until such time as the investment including any loan is
written down to nil. Post-acquisition losses in excess of the group’s interest in that associate are not recognised.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of associates is accounted for in the carrying value of the associates. Any impairment of goodwill
relating to associates is recognised in the income statement as part of equity-accounted earnings of the associates.

The group’s share of earnings of associates is included in earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders.

Joint ventures and jointly-controlled entities
The group’s interests in joint ventures and jointly-controlled entities are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method.
The group combines its share of the assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and cash flows on a line by line basis with similar
items in the financial statements of the group. Adjustments are made to the financial statements of joint ventures prior to
proportionate consolidation to achieve consistency with the group’s accounting policies.

Special purpose entities (SPE)
Special purpose entities are entities that are created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective. An SPE is created with 
legal arrangements that impose strict and permanent limits on the decision-making powers of the governing board, trustees or
management of the SPE.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

An SPE is consolidated on a line for line basis if the group has control over the entity. The group is defined as having control over an
SPE if any one of the following conditions is met:
• in substance, the activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the group according to specific business needs so that the

group obtains specific benefits from the SPE’s operation; 
• in substance, the group has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of benefits of the activities of the SPE or, by setting

up an “autopilot” mechanism, the group has delegated these decision-making powers;
• in substance, the group has the rights to obtain the majority of the benefits from the SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks

incident to the activities of the SPE; or
• in substance, the group retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to obtain

benefits from its activities.

Segment reporting
A reportable segment is a distinguishable business or geographical component of the group that provides products or services that
are different from those of other segments. Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Business segments are defined according to the operational activities undertaken by each segment whilst geographical segments are
defined according to the geographical area in which each segment is located.

Certain overhead expenditure is allocated to segments on a pro-rated  basis to each segment’s turnover to the total turnover of the
combined segments.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Land is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. The depreciation
methods, estimated remaining useful lives and residual values are reviewed at least annually. The depreciation rates applied are set
out below:

Aircraft Variable rates based on flying hours
Land Nil
Buildings 2% straight-line
Plant and vehicles Variable rates based on expected production units
Equipment 33,3% straight-line
Office and computer equipment 10% – 33,3% straight-line

When plant and equipment comprises major components with different useful lives, these components are accounted for as separate
items. Expenditure incurred to replace or modify a significant component is capitalised where it is probable that the economic
benefits will be realised and the cost can be reliably measured, any remaining book value of the component replaced is written off in
the income statement.  All other expenditure is recognised in the income statement.

Business combinations (goodwill)
The purchase method is used when an entity is acquired. On acquisition date, fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities are determined by reference to market values of those or similar items, where
available, or by discounting expected future cash flows to achieve present values.

The cost of acquisition is the fair value of the group’s contribution in the form of assets transferred, shares issued or liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

At acquisition date, goodwill is recognised when the cost of the acquisition exceeds the fair value of the group’s interest in the net
identifiable assets of the entity acquired. Goodwill is subjected to an annual impairment test and any impairment is recognised
immediately in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed. 

The profit or loss realised on disposal or termination of an entity is calculated after taking into account the carrying value of any
related goodwill.
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To the extent that the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the entity acquired exceeds the cost of acquisition, the excess is
recognised in the income statement on acquisition date.

Impairment of assets
The group’s assets, other than inventories and deferred tax, are reviewed annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. An annual
impairment test is performed for all goodwill.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use or fair value less costs to sell of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

The impairment recognised in the income statement is the excess of the carrying value over the recoverable amount. Recoverable
amounts are estimated for individual assets or, where an individual asset cannot generate cash flows independently, the recoverable
amount is determined for the larger cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

With the exception of goodwill, a previously recognised impairment may be reversed insofar as a change in estimate as a result of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised. An impairment is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying value
does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined had no impairment been recognised. A reversal of impairment
is recognised in the income statement.

Financial instruments
The group classifies its financial instruments into the following categories:
• fair value through profit or loss
• held-to-maturity
• available-for-sale
• loans and receivables

The classification is dependent on the purpose for which the investment is acquired. Management determines the classification of its
investments at the time of the purchase and re-evaluates such designation annually. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the group has rights to receive or obligations to pay economic benefits and are
derecognised when such rights or obligations cease to exist.

Initial recognition
Financial instruments are recognised initially on transaction date at fair value. For financial assets and financial liabilities not classified
as fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are added to or deducted from the fair value on recognition.

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets
Subsequent to initial recognition financial assets are measured at fair value with the exception of held-to-maturity financial assets and
loans and receivables which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The fair value of financial assets is determined as the quoted bid price at balance sheet date if listed or, if unlisted, the amount
determined using discounted cash flow valuation models or other appropriate valuation models.

Gains and losses arising from the revaluation of fair value through profit or loss financial assets are recognised in the income
statement. Gains and losses arising from the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in equity, except for
impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the asset is derecognised at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement. For financial assets carried at amortised cost a gain or loss is
recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised or impaired and through the amortisation process.

Where forward exchange contracts and cross currency swaps have been entered into as foreign currency hedges, hedge accounting
has not been applied. All gains and losses arising from such transactions are included in the income statement.

Financial liabilities
Subsequent to initial recognition financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method with the
exception of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Such liabilities are liabilities are measured at fair value.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Gains and losses arising from the revaluation of fair value through profit or loss financial liabilities are recognised in the income
statement. For financial liabilities carried at amortised cost a gain or loss is recognised in the income statement when the liability is
derecognised and through the amortisation process.

Impairment losses
The group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.

For held-to-maturity investments and loans receivable an impairment loss is determined to be the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For an available-for-sale financial asset where a decline in the fair value of such asset has been recognised in equity and the asset is
determined to be impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised directly in equity is removed from equity and recognised in
the income statement even though the asset has not been derecognised. The amount of the cumulative loss recognised in the
income statement is the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value. Impairment losses for assets classified as
available-for-sale are not reversed through the income statement.

Contracts in progress
Profits or losses in respect of long-term contracts are recognised by way of valuation taking into account the stage of completion of
the contracts. The valuation is determined on the basis of the costs incurred for work performed at the balance date and is compared
to the estimated total costs of the contract. Anticipated losses on incomplete contracts are fully provided for as soon as the loss is
foreseen and includes any loss related to future work on the contract. Contracts in progress are stated at cost plus profit taken to
date less cash received or receivable less any provision for losses. On contracts where the outcome is uncertain, revenue is
recognised to the extent that costs incurred are recoverable. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the following basis:
• raw materials and consumable stores are valued at cost on the weighted-average basis;
• property for development is stated at cost together with development expenditure incurred during the development stage, unless

the capitalisation of such expenditure would result in the value of the property exceeding the value which, in the opinion of the
directors would be realised when sold, trading stock is valued at cost; and

• manufacturing work-in-progress includes raw material cost plus direct costs and a proportion of manufacturing overheads.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
marketing, selling and distribution.

Non-current assets held-for-sale
Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying value will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as being met only when the sale is highly probable, the asset is available for
immediate sale in its present condition and the selling price approximates its fair value. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks,
investments in money market instruments, and bank overdrafts.

Leased assets
Finance leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at amounts equal at the inception of the lease
to the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments and are depreciated in
accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of property, plant and equipment. The corresponding rental obligations,
net of finance charges are stated as finance lease liabilities.

Lease finance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by using a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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Operating leases
Leases of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Operating lease rentals are charged against operating profit on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation resulting from past events, where the settlement of
such obligation will result in the probable outflow of resources from the group and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

Long-term provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to their present value using an appropriate
discount rate. 

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part
of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use.

The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:
• actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any temporary

investment of those borrowings;
• weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a

qualifying asset; and
• the borrowing costs capitalised may not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:
• expenditures for the asset have occurred;
• borrowing costs have been incurred, and
• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation ceases when construction of the qualifying asset is interrupted for an extended period or when the asset is
substantially complete, any further borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement.

Revenue and revenue recognition
Contract revenue is based on the fair value of measured work done including variations on claims, taking into account the stage of
completion of each contract.

Revenue from the sale of goods and rendering of services is recognised when:
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and 
• the costs incurred can be measured reliably. 

For services rendered:
• the stage of completion at the balance sheet date can be measured. 

For the sale of goods:
• the group has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership; and
• the group retains neither management involvement nor effective control over the goods sold.

Property sales are recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

Other income, which is not included in revenue, earned by the group is recognised on the following basis:
• interest income is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method; and
• dividend income is recognised in the income statement when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established.

Foreign currency translation
Presentation currency
The financial results of the group are accounted for in its presentation currency. The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Rands.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Foreign operations
Items included in each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the functional currency). The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency
different from that of the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet.
• income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and
• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity until such foreign entity is disposed of at

which time such translation difference is recognised in the income statement.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation is treated as an asset of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Taxation
Current taxation
The current tax charge is the calculated tax payable on the taxable income for the year using substantively enacted tax rates and any
adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years.

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

No deferred tax is provided on temporary differences relating to:
• the initial recognition of goodwill; or
• the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of an asset or liability to the extent that neither accounting nor taxable

profit is affected at the time of the transaction.

The group recognises a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures except where:
• the group controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; or
• it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Enacted or substantively enacted tax rates are used to determine the deferred taxation provision at balance sheet date that are
expected to apply when the asset is realised or liability settled.

Secondary taxation on companies (STC)
STC is recognised as part of the current tax charge in the income statement when the related dividend is declared. When dividends
received in the current year can be offset against future dividend payments to reduce the STC liability, a deferred tax asset is
recognised to the extent of the future reduction in STC.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution benefits
Contributions to a defined contribution plan in respect of service in a particular period are recognised as an expense in that period.

Defined benefit funds
The defined benefit obligation and related current cost are determined by using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income or expense, provided the net cumulative actuarial gains and losses at the end of
the previous reporting period exceed the greater of:
• 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the previous reporting period (before deducting plan

assets); and
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• 10% of the fair value of any plan assets at the same date divided by the expected average remaining working lives of the
employees participating in the fund (the corridor). 

Leave pay
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave, as a result of services by employees, up to the balance sheet date.

Bonus plans
A liability for employee benefits in the form of bonus plans is recognised as a provision as past practice has created a valid
expectation by employees that they will receive a bonus and amounts can be determined before the time of issuing the financial
statements.

Equity compensation benefits
The group issues equity-settled share-based payments from time to time to employees in terms of the Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon
Limited share scheme and the group’s Black Economic Empowerment initiative. Where goods or services are received by the group in
return for the equity compensation benefits the net cost of shares, calculated as the difference between the fair value of such shares
at grant date and the price at which the shares were granted, are expensed on a straight-line basis over their vesting periods. Where
no goods or services can be determined to be received by the group, the net cost of shares, as calculated above, is expensed in the
income statement immediately.

Comparative figures
Comparative figures are reclassified or restated where necessary to afford a proper and more meaningful comparison of results as set
out in the affected notes to the financial statements. Details of the reclassifications can be found in notes 1, 12 and 28.
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GROUP BALANCE SHEET

as at 30 June 2007

2007 2006
Notes R’000 R’000

Assets
Non-current assets 1 064 673 671 967 

Property, plant and equipment 1 752 137 513 177 
Goodwill 2 86 421 76 220 
Deferred taxation 11 40 144 –
Investments in associates 3 99 765 25 865 
Investments in securities 4 33 527 19 295 
Long-term receivables 5 52 679 37 410 

Current assets 3 183 655 2 336 322 

Inventories 6 152 584 201 897 
Contracts in progress 7 1 436 972 1 252 820 
Non-current asset classified as held-for-sale 4 – 17 810 
Short-term receivables 8 325 084 225 473 
Cash and cash equivalents 29 1 269 015 638 322 

Total assets 4 248 328 3 008 289 

Equity and liabilities
Total equity 1 081 404 762 778 

Shareholders’ equity 1 002 702 702 467 
Minority interests 78 702 60 311 

Non-current liabilities 117 232 191 332 

Long-term financial liabilities 10 117 232 157 736 
Deferred taxation 11 – 33 596 

Current liabilities 3 049 692 2 054 179 

Short-term portion of long-term financial liabilities 10 82 341 54 819 
Provisions 12 330 921 209 666 
Short-term financial liabilities 13 2 396 913 1 660 875 
Taxation 238 953 116 500 
Bank overdrafts 29 564 12 319 

Total equity and liabilities 4 248 328 3 008 289 
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GROUP INCOME STATEMENT

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
Notes R’000 R’000

Revenue 14 8 127 793 5 795 118
Operating costs (7 152 621) (5 211 115)
Adminstrative costs (559 295) (321 850) 

Operating profit 15 415 877 262 153
Impairment of goodwill 2 (10 731) (4 928)
Share-based payment expense 27 (34 610) (314)
Fair value adjustments of financial assets 4 5 689 18 130

Profit before finance income and finance costs 376 225 275 041
Finance income 18 72 230 36 245 
Finance costs 19 (16 831) (13 860)

Profit before income from associates 431 624 297 426
Income from associates 14 679 7 188 

Profit before taxation 446 303 304 614
Taxation 20 (127 999) (75 343)

Net profit 318 304 229 271 

Attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent 276 180 197 668
Minority interests 42 124 31 603

Net profit 318 304 229 271

Basic earnings per share (cents)
Attributable earnings basis 500,4 356,2

Dividend per share 121,0 81,0
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GROUP STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Ordinary 
shares Treasury Share
issued shares premium
R’000 R’000 R’000

Balance at 30 June 2005 555 – 4 573 
Income from associates – – –
Net profit for the year – – –
Dividend paid – – –
Share-based payments – – –
Translation of foreign entities – – –
Other reserves – – –
Change in shareholding of subsidiaries – – –

Balance at 30 June 2006 555 – 4 573 
Income from associates – – –
Net profit for the year – – –
Dividend paid – – –
Issue of shares 5 100 25 942 
Treasury shares acquired (8) 8 –
Share-based payments – – –
Translation of foreign entities – – –
Other reserves – – –
Change in shareholding of subsidiaries – – –

Balance at 30 June 2007 552 108 30 515 

*Other reserves include attributable reserves of equity-accounted investments.

Notes 9 9 9
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Non-distributable reserves

Capital Foreign
redemption currency Employee

reserve translation share-scheme Other Distributable Shareholders’ Minority Total
fund reserve reserve reserves* reserves equity interests equity

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2 085 18 658 628 2 863 492 793 522 155 40 619 562 774 
– – – 7 188 (7 188) – – –
– – – – 197 668 197 668 31 603 229 271
– – – – (38 288) (38 288) – (38 288)
– – 314 – – 314 – 314
– 16 268 – – – 16 268 – 16 268 
– – – 4 350 – 4 350 – 4 350 
– – – – – – (11 911) (11 911)

2 085 34 926 942 14 401 644 985 702 467 60 311 762 778
– – – 14 679 (14 679) – – –
– – – – 276 180 276 180 42 124 318 304 
– – – – (59 400) (59 400) – (59 400)
– – – – – 26 047 – 26 047
– – (13) – – (13) – (13)
– – 34 610 – – 34 610 – 34 610 
– 27 083 – – – 27 083 – 27 083
– – – (3 795) (477) (4 272) – (4 272)
– – – – – – (23 733) (23 733)

2 085 62 009 35 539 25 285 846 609 1 002 702 78 702 1 081 404 
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GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
Notes R’000 R’000

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 29.1 1 157 400 239 965 
Finance income 18 72 230 36 245 
Finance costs 19 (16 831) (13 860)
Taxation paid 29.2 (80 275) (55 218)
Dividend paid (59 400) (38 288)

Net cash flow from operating activities 1 073 124 168 844 

Cash flow from investing activities
Decrease in investments in securities 9 736 8 024 
(Increase)/decrease in long-term receivables (37 392) 25 636 
Acquisition of additional equity interests 30 (66 201) (50 805)
(Increase)/decrease in advances to associates (35 116) 494 
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment 23 538 25 998 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
–  to maintain operations (124 509) (172 544)
–  to expand operations (220 009) (27 829)

Net cash flow from investing activities (449 953) (191 026)

Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of share capital 26 047 –
(Decrease)/increase in long-term financial liabilities 29.4 (13 816) 111 835 

Net cash flow from financing activities 12 231 111 835 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year 635 402 89 653 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 626 003 539 333 
Cash/(overdraft) acquired from acquisitions 7 046 (2 983)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 29.5 1 268 451 626 003 

AR/07     page 42

WHBO financials  9/25/07  8:40 PM  Page 42



NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Plant, Office and
Land and vehicles and computer
buildings Aircraft equipment equipment Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

1. Property, plant and equipment
Cost
At 1 July 2005 78 201 3 849 559 754 33 824 675 628
Additions 23 827 – 166 745 9 801 200 373
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2 794 – 30 713 1 400 34 907
Disposals (3 928) – (36 877) (1 021) (41 826)
Translation of foreign entities (2 963) – 2 519 142  (302)

At 30 June 2006 97 931 3,849 722 854 44 146 868 780
Additions 45 817 – 291 591 6 772 344 180
Acquisition of subsidiaries 270 – 1 280 198 1 748
Disposals (1 617) – (55 182) (4 092) (60 891)
Translation of foreign entities 4 806 – 2 879 2 011  9 696

At 30 June 2007 147 207 3 849 963 422 49 035 1 163 513

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2005 3 508 2 311 259 841 22 636 288 296
Depreciation 1 284 479 74 442 4 924 81 129
Disposals (105) – (23 758) (824) (24 687)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 436 – 9 546 820 10 802
Translation of foreign entities 11 – (169) 221  63

At 30 June 2006 5 134 2 790 319 902 27 777 355 603
Depreciation 1 488 277 87 922 6 797 96 484
Disposals – – (39 605) (3 803) (43 408)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 34 – 105 23 162
Translation of foreign entities 40 – 1 460 1 035  2 535

At 30 June 2007 6 696 3 067 369 784 31 829 411 376

Net book value
At 30 June 2007 140 511 782 593 638 17 206  752 137
At 30 June 2006 92 797 1 059 402 952 16 369  513 177

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:
Land 9 269 9 283
Buildings 129 785 82 501
Leasehold improvements 1 457 1 013

140 511 92 797

Details of the freehold land and buildings are recorded in a register in terms of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act of South
Africa, which may be inspected by members or their duly authorised agent at the company’s registered office.

Plant, vehicles and equipment with a book value of R191,7 million (2006: R84,2 million) are subject to instalment sale
agreements (note 10).

In the prior period leasehold improvements to the value of R0,3 million were incorrectly classified as buildings. Comparative
figures have been restated to reflect the reclassification.
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NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

2. Goodwill
Cost 111 421 90 489
Accumulated impairment (25 000) (14 269)

Carrying value 86 421 76 220 

The carrying value of goodwill is reconciled as follows:
Carrying value at beginning of year 76 220 38 874 
Goodwill recognised on acquisitions 15 187 41 550
Goodwill impaired during the year (10 731) (4 928)
Translation of foreign entities 5 745 724

Carrying value at end of year 86 421 76 220 

Impairment of goodwill
The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
discounted cash-flow projections based on financial forecasts over a five year period. The discount rates used in the cash flow
models are between 9% and 21%.

These estimates are pre-tax discount rates that reflect the current market assessments of the time-value of money and specific
risk to the cash-generating unit.

The discount rates are arrived at after taking into account the following factors:
• fluctuations in operating conditions;
• fluctuations in estimated growth rates; and
• expected working capital requirements.

The growth rates used in forecasting cash flows are between 13% and 18% depending on the economic environment in which
the cash-generating unit is located.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated for the purposes of impairment testing are the operations of
the specific entities.

The impairment of goodwill in the current period has arisen as a result of revised estimates of future cash flows due to changes
in the operating environment of the operation concerned and expected profit targets not being achieved in current and previous
financial periods.

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

3. Investments in associates
Unlisted
Investment at cost 40 143 9 957
Attributable post-acquisition gains and losses 18 661 5 693
Loans to associates 40 961 10 215

99 765 25 865

A complete list of investments in associates is set out in annexure 2.

The aggregate assets, liabilities and results of operations of associates are summarised 
as follows:

Non-current assets 96 936 186 080
Current assets 113 865 73 799

Total assets 210 801 259 879

Shareholders’ equity 106 547 194 195
Non-current liabilities 41 145 6 260 
Current liabilities 63 109 59 424

Total equity and liabilities 210 801 259 879
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2007 2006
R’000 R’000

3. Investments in associates continued
Revenue 264 405 193 137
Operating profit 54 653 18 232
Group’s share of associates’ net profit for the period 14 679 7 188 

4. Investments in securities
Listed investments
–  At market value 792 510

Unlisted investments
Concessions 16 491 10 802

–  At cost 482 482 
–  Fair value adjustments 16 009 10 320 

Other investments 16 244 7 983

–  At cost 16 244 17 983
–  Fair value adjustments – 7 810
–  Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale (IFRS 5) – (17 810)

33 527 19 295 

A register of listed investments is available for inspection at the registered office of the company in terms of section 113 of the
Companies Act of South Africa.

The directors have determined the cost of other investments to be their fair value.

Concessions 
The group’s investments in concessions are carried at fair value using discounted cash flow models based on forecasted
operating income streams, market-related discount rates and inflation rates.

Bakwena Platinum Corridor Concession (Pty) Limited
The group has a 3,6% investment in the company which owns and operates various toll roads. Future cash flows will arise from
dividends declared on revenue expected to be earned from toll gate collections.

Rainprop (Pty) Limited
The group has a 2,5% investment in the company which has a stake in the DTI Campus. Various contractual disputes with the
client have yet to be settled, the outcome of which is uncertain. As a result the cost of the investment in the concession has
been determined to be its fair value. Non-recoverability of the loan with the company has also been provided for (note 5).

Other investments
Cape Gate Regional (Pty) Limited (Non-current asset classified as held-for-sale)
During the prior period the group exercised its option to exchange its loan to the company for an undivided 10% share in the
company. During the current period the group disposed of the investment.

Saddleback Pty Limited (Australia)
The group has an interest in a headlease over two alpine apartments located at Mount Buller, Victoria (Australia).

Victorian Opportunity Fund (Australia)
The group has a 4,8% interest in the fund which invests in real property or property related investments predominantly located
in or with a connection to Victoria (Australia).

Murphy Street Development Pty Limited (Australia)
The group has an interest in the company which is developing a property in Melbourne (Australia).
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NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

5. Long-term receivables
Loans to concessions  6 305 12 832 

–  At amortised cost 8 736 15 263 
–  Provision for non-recoverability of loan (2 431) (2 431)

Property development loans 8 138 10 441 

–  At amortised cost 27 832 10 441 
–  Provision for non-recoverability of loan (19 694) –

Loans to employees for shares
–  At amortised cost 38 136 14 137

Other loans
–  At amortised cost 100 –

52 679 37 410 

Related party long-term receivables
Third parties 8 237 7 941 

The terms and conditions relating to long-term receivables and other relevant information are set out below:

Loans to concession investments 
Loans to concession investments are unsecured, bear no interest and will not be repaid within the next 12 months in terms of
the loan agreement (note 4).

Property development loans
Property development loans represent loans to local and foreign developments in which the group may participate in the future.
The loans are unsecured and either bear no interest or bear interest at the prime lending rate or the prime lending rate plus 2%.
The loans will not be repaid within the next 12 months in terms of the loan agreements.

Non-recoverability of loans to foreign developments has been provided for in full due to uncertainty surrounding the long-term
viability of the projects.

Loans to employees for shares
Loans to employees are secured, bear no interest and are repayable after, but not before a period of five years from the date of
sale of the shares (note 27).

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

6. Inventories
Raw materials 22 195 10 349 
Manufacturing work-in-progress 1 001 803 
Finished goods 2 242 2 327 
Consumable stores 11 967 11 634 
Write-down of inventories for obsolete stock – (964)

37 405 24 149 
Properties for development 109 329 177 748 
Trading stock (property development linked shares) 5 850 –

Total inventories 152 584 201 897 

Properties for development with a carrying value of R70,8 million (2006: R84,3 million) are secured by mortgage bonds as
described in note 10.
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2007 2006
R’000 R’000

7. Contracts in progress
Contract debtors 1 154 032 943 956 
Contract retentions 140 419 148 301 
Uncompleted contracts: Amounts due by customers 142 521 160 563 

1 436 972 1 252 820 

Uncompleted contracts
Costs incurred to date 15 266 105 11 745 661 
Profit recognised to date 1 241 406 857 716 

16 507 511 12 603 377 
Work certified to date (17 423 967) (12 909 552)

Net amounts due to customers (916 456) (306 175)
Payments received in advance (note 13) 235 695 –
Excess billings over work done (note 13) 823 282 466 738 

Amounts due by customers 142 521 160 563 

8. Short-term receivables
Prepayments 8 274 6 902
Amounts owing by joint ventures 53 966 42 511 
Staff debtors 10 968 1 614
Short-term loan 54 734 –
Value-added taxation 20 805 28 042
Accounts receivable 176 337 146 404 

325 084 225 473

The carrying values of these receivables approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of the instruments.

The short-term loan relates to an amount owing to the group by Nondela Drakensberg Mountain Estate (Pty) Limited (Nondela). 
A subsidiary of the group is the principal contractor engaged for the construction of Nondela. The group has entered into an
agreement with Nondela to assist with the financing of the development, details of which are set out as follows:
• The group provided a bridging loan to Nondela in the amount of R30 million by carrying out works in respect of the

construction of Nondela at its own cost to such value.
• The group shall provide an additional bridging loan of R30 million, upon sales in Nondela reaching R75 million, by carrying

out works in respect of the construction of Nondela at its own cost to such value.
• The total debt of R60 million bears interest as a lump sum in the amount of R20 million.
• The interest and capital shall be repaid from time to time and by no later than 1 June 2008 out of the initial proceeds realised

by Nondela from the transfer of the 41st full title erven.
• Nondela shall be entitled to a discount on the lump sum interest of R1 million per month, pro-rated for a part of a month, for

each month earlier than 1 June 2008 that the total debt is repaid, however the minimum amount of interest payable shall be
no-less than R15 million. Similarly, Nondela shall incur a penalty of R1 million per month, pro-rated for a part of a month, for
each month subsequent to 1 June 2008 that the total debt is repaid.

• As further compensation for the bridging finance advanced to Nondela the group is entitled to participate in 10% of the
profits of the development, limited to the value of R60 million including the value of interest paid on the bridging loan.

• The loan is secured by a second mortgage bond in the amount of R85 million over the remaining extent of the Farm Bellevue
No. 8247, portion 2 of the Farm Bellevue No. 8247 and portion 2 of the Farm Waterkloof No. 10683, being the properties on
which Nondela is being developed.

• The group is required in terms of the agreement to provide, at no additional cost, its know-how, knowledge and expertise in
the development of the estate.
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NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

9. Share capital
Authorised
100 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each 1 000 1 000 
20 000 000 redeemable preference shares of 5 cents each 1 000 1 000 

2 000 2 000 

Issued
To the public
55 189 781 fully paid-up ordinary shares of 1 cent each 552 555

To share trusts and BEE SPEs
10 810 219 fully paid-up ordinary shares of 1 cent each 108 –
Share premium (net of share issue expenses) 30 515 4 573

31 175 5 128

The directors are authorised, by resolution of the shareholders until the forthcoming annual 
general meeting, to dispose of the unissued shares for any purpose and upon such terms 
and conditions as they see fit.

Less than 20% of the issued share capital of the group has been issued to employees in 
terms of share incentive schemes.

10. Long-term financial liabilities
Secured
Imperial Bank Limited 58 477 60 769
Sanlam Capital Markets Limited – 59 771
Liabilities under instalment sale agreements 55 111 17 103 

–  Total amount outstanding 137 452 55 625
–  Short-term portion included under current liabilities (82 341) (38 522)

113 588 137 643

Unsecured
ABSA Bank Limited – –

–  Total amount outstanding – 16 297
–  Short-term portion included under current liabilities – (16 297)

Other loans 3 644 20 093

3 644 20 093

Total long-term financial liabilities 117 232 157 736 

Total short-term portion included under current liabilities 82 341 54 819

Related party long-term financial liabilities
Third parties – 16,578

The terms and conditions relating to long-term financial liabilities and other relevant information are set out below:

Imperial Bank Limited and Sanlam Capital Markets Limited
These loans relate to the development funding of the St Francis Links Estate and the Simbithi Eco Estate. The loans are
secured against properties for development (note 6) and bear interest at the prime lending rate less between 0,5% and 1,5%.
Interest (note 19) is capitalised on the loans during the construction phase of the development and will be settled from the net
proceeds as and when transfers are made of properties over which the mortgage bonds are held. 
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2007 2006
R’000 R’000

10. Long-term financial liabilities continued
Instalment sale liabilities 
Instalment sale liabilities are secured by instalment sale agreements over certain assets as 
specified in note 1. Interest is charged at market related rates linked to prime lending rates. 
The agreements are for various periods up to 48 months.

The present value of future minimum payments on instalment sale agreements is as follows:

Less than 1 year 145 630 40 428
More than 1 year and less than 5 years 4 190 18 039

149 820 58 467
Less: Future finance costs (12 368) (2 843)

Present value of instalment sale agreements 137 452 55 624

Other loans
Other loans include third party loans to subsidiary companies bearing interest at either the 
prime lending rate or the prime lending rate less 2% and are repayable as and when funds 
are available.

11. Deferred taxation
Liability at beginning of year 33 596 60 533
Acquisition of subsidiaries (213) (1 748)
Current year charge to the income statement (note 20) (73 011) (25 415)
Translation of foreign entities (516) 226

(Asset)/liability at the end of the year (40 144) 33 596

Arising from the following temporary differences:

Liabilities
Capital allowances 45 811 35 558
Contracting allowances 75 637 72 004
Unrealised foreign exchange differences 5 257 5 841
Prepayments 2 312 –
Other 11 152

Assets
Provisions (131 553) (54 966)
Utilisation of losses (37 619) (24 993)

(Asset)/liability at the end of the year (40 144) 33 596 
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NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Carrying Carrying
amount Utilised Unutilised amount

at beginning Provisions during the amounts  at end
of year raised  year reversed of year 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

12. Provisions
Bonus provision 89 535 128 405 (92 133) (6 858) 118 949
Accident claims provision 2 658 37 789 (28 686) (10 049) 1 712
Contracting provisions 117 473 374 629 (248 329) (33 513) 210 260

209 666 540 823 (369 148) (50 420) 330 921

Bonus provision
The bonus provision arises from a constructive obligation to staff members, where an annual bonus is determined based on the
performance of the group, within three months of the release of the audited financial statements. The actual bonus is approved
by the board of directors.

Accident claims provision
The balance represents provisions for probable claims relating to past accidents. The provisions are utilised within twelve
months, once investigations into the claims are expected to be finalised.

Contracting provisions
The balance represents provisions for claims arising on contracts per respective agreements. The provisions will be utilised as
and when investigations into the claims are finalised and settled.

The carrying values of these provisions approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

Leave pay provision amounting to R38,0 million (2006: R34,5 million) has been reclassified as an accrual (note 13). Comparative
figures have been restated to reflect the reclassification.

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

13. Short-term financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables 573 732 470 339
Value-added taxation 48 502 30 839
Accruals 357 251 487 234 
Subcontractor creditors 155 155 61 308
Subcontractor retentions 201 860 144 417
Payments received in advance (note 7) 235 695 –
Amounts owing to joint ventures 1 436 –
Excess billings over work done (note 7) 823 282 466 738

2 396 913 1 660 875

The carrying values of these financial liabilities approximate their fair values due to their 
short-term nature.

14. Revenue
Revenue, excluding Value-added taxation, comprises primarily:
–  Recognised revenue including variations and claims on construction contracts 7 612 464 5 576 028
–  Sales of properties 225 681 34 148 
–  Fair value of goods and services supplied 289 648 184 942

8 127 793 5 795 118
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2007 2006
R’000 R’000

15. Operating profit
Operating profit is arrived at after taking into account the following:
Auditors’ remuneration 5 782 3 554

–  Audit fees 5 661 3 465
–  Advisory services 121 89

Consulting and technical fees 3 775 2 534
Staff costs (note 27) 1 137 127 883 472
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (11 366) (6 436)

–  Realised (977) 1 356
–  Unrealised (10 389) (7 792)

Depreciation 96 484 81 129

–  Aircraft 277 479
–  Buildings 1 488 1 284
–  Plant, vehicles and equipment 87 922 74 442
–  Office and computer equipment 6 797 4 924 

Operating lease rentals 6 373 3 371

–  Land and buildings 5 808 3 285
–  Plant, vehicles and equipment 565 86

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6 055) (8 856) 
Impairment provisions against long-term receivables (note 5) 19 694 2 431

–  Concessions – 2 431
–  Property development loans 19 694 –

16. Directors’ emoluments
Paid by subsidiaries
Non-executive directors 545 254

–  Salaries 529 –
–  Other fees 16 110
–  Consulting services – 144

Executive directors 6 674 4 945 

–  Salaries 1 563 1 598
–  Incentive bonuses 4 299 2 400
–  Retirement and medical 483 522 
–  Other benefits 329 425

Total directors’ emoluments 7 219 5 199
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NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007
Incentive Retirement Other fees/ Total  

Salaries bonuses and medical benefits emoluments
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

16. Directors’ emoluments 
continued
Director
Executive
MS Wylie 944 3 299 294 172 4 709 
PG Theessen – – – – –
JW Abbott 619 1 000 189 157 1 965 

1 563 4 299 483 329 6 674  

Non-executive
BG Holmes 133 – – – 133
AJ MacKenzie – – – – –
MW McCulloch 123 – – – 123
NS Maziya 105 – – 12 117
NS Mjoli-Mncube 56 – – – 56
JM Ngobeni 112 – – 4 116

529 – – 16 545

Total 2 092 4 299 483 345 7 219 

2006
Incentive Retirement Other fees/ Total

Salaries bonuses and medical benefits emoluments
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Director
Executive
MS Wylie 816 1 650 265 170 2 901 
PG Theesen 424 – 144 140 708
JW Abbott 358 750 113 115 1 336 

1 598 2 400 522 425 4 945 

Non-executive
BG Holmes – – – 60 60 
AJ MacKenzie – – – 144 144 
MW McCulloch – – – 50 50

– – – 254 254

Total 1 598 2 400 522 679 5 199

Executive directors do not receive directors’ fees and none of the directors have service contracts with group companies.
Executive directors are subject to the company’s standard conditions of employment.

Disclosure of directors’ shareholdings can be found on page 29.
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2007 
Incentive Retirement Other fees/ Share-based Total  

Salaries bonuses and medical benefits payment emoluments
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

17. Key management 
emoluments
EL Nel 639 1 500 200 191 18 2 548 
JP Botha 637 1 300 206 146 – 2 289
TR Armstrong 615 1 000 194 204 – 2 013 

1 891 3 800 600 541 18 6 850 

2006
Incentive Retirement Other fees/ Share-based Total 

Salaries bonuses and medical benefits payment emoluments
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

EL Nel 540 900 174 187 18 1 819
JP Botha 562 950 183 179 – 1 874
TR Armstrong 526 600 168 155 – 1 449

1 628 2 450 525 521 18 5 142

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

18. Finance income
Interest received 
–  Call and current accounts 62 631 32 907
–  Unlisted investments 7 059 3 338 
–  Other 2 540 –

72 230 36 245 

19. Finance costs
Bank overdrafts 1 294 624
Long-term financial liabilities 9 005 18 551
Instalment sale agreements 5 834 3 203 
Other 9 703 512

25 836 22 890
Finance costs capitalised during the year (note 10) (9 005) (9 030)

Charge to the income statement 16 831 13 860 

The weighted average borrowing rate used in the capitalisation of interest is 11,2%.
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for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

20. Taxation
South African normal tax
Current taxation
–  Current year 103 761 72 733 
–  Prior years (4 268) –
Deferred taxation (note 11)
–  Current year (3 886) (25 303)
–  Prior years 3 992 –

99 599 47 430 

Foreign taxation (including withholding tax)
Current taxation
–  Current year 71 670 28 025 
–  Prior years 23 058 –
Deferred taxation (note 11)
–  Current year (63 659) (112)
–  Prior years (9 458) –

21 611 27 913

Secondary taxation on companies (STC) 6 789 –

Total tax charge 127 999 75 343 

Reconciliation of tax rate % %
South African normal tax rate 29,0 29,0
Adjusted for:
Exempt income (0,4) (7,6)
Non-deductible expenses 2,5 0,4
Foreign tax rate differential (0,9) (1,1)
Net overprovision (2,6) (2,7)
Tax losses utilised (0,7) 4,4
Capital profits (0,3) (0,3)
Other 2,1 2,7

Effective tax rate 28,7 24,8

Estimated tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income 170 421 117 900

Potential tax relief at current taxation rates 49 422 34 191

This depends on sufficient taxable income being earned in future by subsidiaries concerned. The potential tax losses have
been fully accounted for in both years presented.
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21. Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing attributable earnings by the weighted average number of shares in issue.
Appropriate adjustments are made in calculating headline earnings per share.

Diluted earnings per share is not disclosed as there are no instruments in issue at the balance sheet date that would have a
dilutive effect on the earnings per share ratios as disclosed.

Weighted average number of shares

Date of Number of
issue shares

’000

Shares in issue at the beginning of the period 55 491
Shares issued in terms of the share incentive scheme 1 July 2006 520 
Shares issued in terms of the BEE initiative 11 October 2006 9 989

Total issued share capital 66 000
Less: Treasury shares under the control of the directors (4 289)

Linked shares: BEE initiative (5 700)
Unallocated shares in the share incentive schemes (821)

Weighted average number of shares 55 190

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

Headline earnings
Attributable earnings  276 180 197 668
Adjusted for:
Impairment of goodwill 10 731 4 928
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6 055) (8 858)
Tax effect thereof 1 756 1 421

Headline earnings 282 612 195 159
BEE share-based payments expense 28 391 –

Adjusted headline earnings 311 003 195 159

2007 2006
cents cents

Earnings per share: attributable earnings basis
Basic earnings per share 500,4 356,2
Headline earnings per share 512,1 351,7
Adjusted headline earnings per share 563,5 351,7
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2007 2006
R’000 R’000

22. Guarantees, contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Guarantees issued in respect of due performance of contracts by:
–  Companies and subsidiaries 1 215 899 1 027 110
–  Associates 196 756 120 565
–  Joint ventures 928 458 658 066
–  Third parties 176 203 13 946

2 517 316 1 819 687

It is the opinion of the directors that the possibility of any loss is improbable and it is not 
anticipated that any material liabilities will arise.

Contingent liabilities
A subsidiary of the group has received a tax assessment which is the subject of a dispute 
with the South African Revenue Service. At the balance sheet date resolution of the dispute 
has been unsuccessful and has been escalated to the next level of dispute resolution within 
the South African Revenue Service’s dispute resolution process. The outcome of the dispute 
is uncertain and the value of any possible future liability cannot yet be determined.

Capital Africa Steel (Pty) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the group, has certain 
suspensive conditions set within the purchase agreement. Based on past results it is likely 
that the company will achieve the profit thresholds set within the purchase agreement 
resulting in additional payments becoming due to the sellers.

Secondary tax on companies (STC)
Undistributed earnings subject to STC 847 563 646 577
Tax effect if distributed 94 174 71 842 

Contingent assets
The Lesotho road arbitration has been awarded in favour of the group based on the merits 
of the case. An independent expert has been appointed to value the quantum of the award.

23. Capital commitments
Capital commitments include expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment for 
which specific board approval has been obtained.
Authorised and contracted for 136 371 55 529 
Authorised but not yet contracted for 245 579 141 400 

381 950 196 929 

Expenditure on estimated commitments will fall within one year. Capital commitments 
will be funded from internal cash resources.

24. Commitments under operating leases
The minimum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable leases at 30 June  
are as follows:

Buildings
Due within 1 year 5 061 4 107 
Due later than 1 year but less than 5 years 5 753 4 868 
Due thereafter – 1 212 

10 814 10 187 

Plant and equipment
Due within 1 year 758 343 
Due later than 1 year but less than 5 years 844 571 

1 602 914
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2007 2006
R’000 R’000

25. Related party transactions
During the year, group companies, in the ordinary course of business, entered into various 
sale transactions with joint ventures. The effect of these transactions is included in the 
financial performance and results of the group. Terms and conditions are determined on 
an arm’s length basis.

Disclosure in respect of subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and jointly-controlled entities 
is set out in annexures 1 to 3 respectively. 

Material related party transactions were as follows:
Sales and services rendered to related parties
Joint ventures 252 296 190 250

Amounts due to and from related parties are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements for those balance
sheet items (note 5, 10 and 13).

Directors
Details of directors’ remuneration are disclosed under note 16.

There were no other related party transactions with directors or entities in which directors have a material interest.

Key management personnel
Details of key management personnel remuneration are disclosed under note 17.

Shareholders
An analysis of major shareholders is disclosed on page 24.

26. Financial instruments and financial risk management
26.1 Interest rate risk

The group is exposed to interest rate risk through its commitment in instalment sale agreements, long-term liabilities and
short-term financial liabilities. The group manages its exposure through maintaining a reasonable accounts payable days
level, as well as keeping favourable current bank account balances which act as a natural hedge against this exposure.

26.2 Credit risk
The group is exposed to credit risk through its investment in contract debtors, receivables and investments and loans.
The group manages its exposure through obtaining letters of credit through approved foreign institutions where it is
considered necessary, performing comprehensive credit checks on new clientele and obtaining collateral where
considered necessary for loans advanced. Investments which will result in material holdings are also only made once a
thorough due diligence review has been performed.

26.3 Market risk
The group is exposed to market risk through its contracting for goods and services needed to complete contracts in line
with client specifications. This is managed by departmentalising the organisation and implementing a transfer pricing
system which is understood by all personnel involved, so as to achieve synergistic benefits for the group as a whole.

26.4 Currency risk
The group is exposed to currency risk through its financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The
group manages its exposure by creating natural hedges as a result of the existence of both foreign financial assets and
liabilities, as well as by making use of forward exchange contracts and cross currency swaps as detailed on page 58.

26.5 Liquidity risk
The group is in a cash positive position and has been so historically for many years. However, residual risk is managed
through the generation and maintenance of adequate cash forecasts as well as the long standing relationship that exists
between the group’s bankers and itself.  
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26. Financial instruments and financial risk management continued
26.6 Uncovered monetary assets

The following uncovered monetary assets existed at year-end:

Amount
in foreign Exchange
currency rate R’000

Australian Dollars AUS$ 49 470 6,0 297 127
Botswana Pula P 50 375 1,2 58 319
UK Pounds GBP 37 14,2 529
US Dollars US$ 15 738 7,1 111 362

26.7 Forward exchange contracts and cross currency swaps
The following forward exchange contracts and cross currency swaps were held during the year and at 30 June 2007:

Contract Contract Actual/
foreign Rand Average estimated Fair value

currency equivalent  rate of fair value at 30 June 
amount amount exchange gain/(loss) 2007

’000 R’000 (calculated) R’000 R’000

Forward exchange contracts
Relating to transactions which have 
already occurred:
US Dollar 2 250 15 230 6,8 (713) –

Cross currency swaps
Relating to transactions which have 
already occurred:
Rand to US Dollar 1 200 8 956 7,5 157 –
US Dollar to Rand 2 300 17 332 7,5 494 –
Rand to Euro 200 1 940 9,7 (5) –
Euro to Rand 400 3 820 9,6 26 –

Related to future commitments:
Rand to US Dollar 1 200 9 602 8,0 1 112 8 491
US Dollar to Rand 600 4 350 7,3 – 4 246 
Rand to Euro 1 200 12 645 10,5 1 191 11 454
Euro to Rand 600 5 730 9,6 (1) 5 727 

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

27. Employee benefits
a) Staff costs

Wages and salaries 1 048 703 811 987
Pension cost – defined benefit fund 1 543 906
Provident cost – defined contribution funds 58 900 39 913
Medical aid 12 543 11 621
Workmens’ compensation 5 594 3 801
Skills development 3 283 2 552
Other contributions 6 561 12 692

1 137 127 883 472

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 30 June 2007

AR/07     page 58

WHBO financials  9/25/07  8:40 PM  Page 58



AR/07     page 59

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

27. Employee benefits continued
b) Defined benefit fund

Present value of obligation 39 484 38 095
Fair value of fund assets (38 442) (35 630)

Funded status 1 042 2 465
Net unrecognised actuarial loss (1 042) (11 531)
Unrecognised asset in terms of paragraph 58 limitation – 9 066

Liability recognised – –

Defined benefit obligation
Opening balance 38 095 33 357
Service cost 438 513
Interest cost 3 393 2 802
Members’ contributions 184 200
Actuarial loss 2 320 3 446
Benefits paid (4 805) (2 094)
Risk premiums (141) (129)

Closing balance 39 484 38 095

Fair value of fund assets
Opening balance 35 630 35 629
Expected return on assets 2 104 1 751
Contributions 671 3 510
Risk premiums (141) (129)
Benefits paid (4 805) (2 094)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 4 983 (3 037)

Closing balance 38 442 35 630

The composition of fund assets is made up as follows:- % %
Cash 4,4 100,0
Equity 76,9 –
Bonds 3,8 –
Property and other 0,7 –
International 14,2 –

100,0 100,0

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the balance sheet date were as follows:
Discount rate 7,8 9,0
Inflation rate 4,8 5,8 
Salary increase rate 6,8 7,8
Expected rate of return on assets 9,5 6,0 
Pension increase allowance 3,6 4,3 

The fund’s expected long-term return is a function of the expected long-term returns on equities, cash and bonds. The
expected long-term rate of return on bonds is set at the same level as the discount rate. This implies a yield on
government bonds of 7,8% per annum. The expected long-term rate of return on equities is set at a level of 3% above
the bond rate, whilst the expected long-term rate of return on cash was set at a level of 2% below the bond rate.

These assumptions have been based on the requirements of the reporting standard IAS 19: Employee Benefits and are
typically less conservative than those used by the valuator for funding purposes. All other assumptions adopted in the
funding valuation were left unchanged.

The WBHO Pension Fund, which is governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956 (as amended), is  closed to new
entrants. The fund is a final emolument pension fund and 0,47% of employees are members of the fund. Actuarial
valuations are made annually and the most recent valuation was made on 30 June 2007. The actuary is of the opinion
that the fund is in a sound financial position.
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27. Employee benefits continued
c) Defined contribution funds

WBHO Staff Provident Fund
The fund is open to all full-time monthly paid employees of the company.

WBHO Provident Fund
The fund is open to membership by any hourly paid employee employed full time by the company and who has
completed at least twelve months’ continuous service.

d) Equity compensation benefits
The WBHO Share Trust 
The trust is a special purpose entity through which the group sells shares to employees with the aim of retaining existing
talent within the group. The group issues shares to the trust at the discretion of the directors.

The shares are sold to employees at approximately market value at the date of issue. At the date of sale, a loan to the
value of the shares sold is raised for each identified employee. The employee is required to pledge the shares to the trust
as security against the loan. The loan must be repaid after, but not before, a period of five years. Any dividends earned
on the shares during that period are set off against the balance of the loan. The trustees are entitled to buy back from the
employee, sufficient shares to settle any amount outstanding on the loan once the five year period has elapsed.

Should a participating employee leave the employ of the company before the five year period has elapsed the employee
is required to sell the shares back to the trust at the same price at which they were purchased. Details relating to the
number of shares issued to the trust, the selling prices to employees and the accompanying share-based expense are
set out in the table below.

The WBHO Share Trust

Selling Share-based Future 
Number of price per payments expense to be

shares share expense recognised
’000 cents R’000 R’000

Shares sold to employees in prior periods where 
the loan period has not yet expired 896 1 575 314 628
Shares sold during the current period 521 4 985 278 1 112
Shares repurchased during the current period 7 4 985 n/a n/a
Unallocated share stock 7 n/a n/a n/a

The WBH-O Management Trust
The trust is a special purpose entity through which shares are sold to employees with the aim of retaining existing talent
within the group. At the time of listing on the JSE Securities Exchange (JSE), all employee shareholders who owned in
excess of 100 000 shares in Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited (WBHO) gave an option to the trust to purchase 10%
of the excess of their interest in the company over the said 100 000 shares. The option takes effect when the employee
turns fifty years of age and for that and each subsequent year the trust is entitled to call upon 20% of the option shares
until such employee turned fifty-five years of age. Thereafter the trust is entitled to call upon 100% of the option shares
until the employee turns sixty years of age after which the option lapses. The option per share price at which the trust
purchases shares from the employee shareholders is based on the JSE share price of 152 cents on 1 July 1995 plus the
earnings per share less any dividends attributable since that date.

Shares sold to employees out of the trust match those shares sold out of the WBHO Share Trust on a one-for-one basis.
However, as the options described above allow the trust to acquire shares at a discount to the market price, the trust is
able to sell such shares to the identified members of staff at a similar discount. The terms and conditions relating to the
sale of shares by the trust in terms of the scheme, any loans raised or settled, the duration of the loan, securities
pledged and repurchasing of shares by the trust before the prescribed period are the same as for the WBHO Share Trust
described above. 
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27. Employee benefits continued
d) Equity compensation benefits continued

Details relating to the number of shares purchased and sold by the trust and the respective share prices are set out in
the table below.

The WBH-O Management Trust

Selling Share-based Future 
Number of price per payments expense to be

shares share expense recognised
’000 cents R’000 R’000

Shares sold to employees in prior periods where 
the loan period has not yet expired – – – –
Options exercised in the current period – – – –
Shares sold during the current period 521 2 800 – –
Shares repurchased during the current period – – – –
Unallocated share stock 814 n/a n/a n/a

Akani Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited and The Broad-Based Employee Share Incentive Trust
The company and trust are special purpose entities created to give effect to the group’s Black Economic Empowerment
(BEE) initiative, aimed to source strategic black partners and reward black employees who have been in the service of
the group for more than five years.

Akani Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited (Akani) has been incorporated and has as its main business and object the
subscription for and holding of Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited (WBHO) shares. The shareholders of Akani at the
issue date comprise the Broad-Based Employee Share Incentive Trust (BBE Trust), three black partners and WBHO. 
On 16 October 2006 WBHO issued shares to Akani and Akani issued an equal number of shares to the shareholders, the
effect being that each Akani share held by the shareholders is linked to one WBHO share.

Black partners
The black partners subscribed for Akani shares at par value, in cash on the issue date.

In terms of the BEE agreement the black partners may not dispose of the Akani shares held by them for a period of ten
years from the issue date (the lock-up period). The last day of the lock-up period is determined to be the date of
repurchase. On the date of repurchase, WBHO will repurchase from Akani ( with Akani immediately repurchasing an
equal number of Akani shares from the relevant black partners) so many of the WBHO shares, at their par value, based
on the repurchase formula. The repurchase formula is calculated as follows:

A = [(B+D)/C] x E

Where:
A = number of WBHO shares to be repurchased
B = notional initial amount being the 15 trading day VWAP of a WBHO share for the period preceding the issue date
C = market value of a WBHO share on the date of repurchase
D = an amount determined by applying the hurdle rate to the notional initial amount less the subscription price paid for

the subscription share for the period from the issue date until the date of repurchase
E = original number of WBHO shares subscribed for by the black partner in question

The hurdle rate is defined as being  the nominal annual growth rate of 8,3% compounded annually. 

In terms of the BEE agreement a reinvestment obligation is imposed on the black partners whereby they are obliged to
utilise two-thirds of the proceeds from all cash distributions received during the lock-up period for the subscription for
shares in Akani, thereby allowing Akani to purchase WBHO shares on the open market. Any shares acquired by the black
partners arising from the reinvestment obligation will also be subject to the lock-up period and two-thirds of any
distributions received will be subject to the reinvestment obligation.

WHBO financials  9/25/07  8:40 PM  Page 61



27. Employee benefits continued
d) Equity compensation benefits continued

The Broad-Based Employee Share Incentive Trust (BBE Trust)
The BBE Trust subscribed for Akani shares at par value, in cash at the issue date.

Allocations of the Akani shares subscribed for will be granted to eligible employees meeting the qualification criteria as
set out by the board of directors of WBHO. To date approximately 1 600 employees have been allocated shares. Each
allocation will be for a period of five years from the date of issue of the allocation (the allocation period).

In terms of the BEE agreement a reinvestment obligation is imposed on participants similar to that imposed on the black
partners with the exception that the full proceeds from any cash distributions shall be applied for the subscription of
shares in Akani for the purchase by Akani of WBHO shares on the open market.

WBHO
WBHO subscribed for Akani shares at par value, in cash at the issue date.

WBHO is entitled to to transfer the Akani shares for which it has subscribed to black people identified by WBHO from
time to time. WBHO intends transferring at least 800 000 shares to new or existing black partners within a period of three
years from the issue date.

Details of shares issued by Akani and the accompanying share-based payments expense recognised are set out in the
table below.

Akani Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited

Selling Share-based Future 
Number of price per payments expense to be

shares share expense recognised
’000 cents R’000 R’000

WBHO shares issued to Akani in terms of the 
BEE agreement 9 989 1 n/a  n/a
Akani shares issued to the black partners 1 200 1 28 391 Nil

Akani shares issued to the BBE Trust
–  For immediate allocation 1 280 1 5 627  22 508
–  For future allocation 3 220 1 n/a  n/a

Akani shares issued to WBHO
–  For transfer to new or existing black partners 

within three years 800 1 n/a  n/a
–  For future transfer to new or existing black partners 3 489 1 n/a  n/a

WBHO shares purchased in terms of the reinvestment 
obligation
–  Black partners 3 120 n/a n/a  n/a
–  The BBE Trust 13 356 n/a n/a  n/a

In calculating the share-based payments expense applicable to the black partners and the BBE trust it was necessary to
estimate the number of shares that would vest at the end of the lock-up period and allocation period respectively. The
following assumptions and judgements were used in arriving at the estimate:

BBE Black 
Trust partners

Hurdle rate (%) 8,3 8,3
Weighted average expected volatility (%) 24,0 24,0
Weighted average dividend yield (%) 1,7 1,7
Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 8,8 8,5
Vesting period (years) 5 10
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28. Segmental analysis
Primary reporting format
Business segments

Civil and Roads and Property and
building earthworks Industrial concessions Other Consolidated

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

At 30 June 2007
Segment revenue 
– external 5 716 322 1 877 000 289 648 244 823 – 8 127 793

Segment result (operating 
profit) 222 452 76 128 65 083 52 214 – 415 877

Non-cash income and 
expenses
–  Impairment of goodwill – (10 731) – – – (10 731)
–  Fair value adjustments – – – 5 689 – 5 689
–  Share-based payments – – – – (34 610) (34 610)
–  Depreciation (66 473) (25 903) (4 038) (59) (11) (96 484)
Associate income/(losses) 5 017 – 9 873 (211) – 14 679
Segment assets 2 679 571 1 183 069 199 825 133 029 52 834 4 248 328
Segment liabilities 2 095 900 887 432 78 076 85 043 20 473 3 166 924
Investment in associates 64 212 – 19 356 16 197 – 99 765
Capital expenditure 266 944 74 032 3 204 – – 344 180
Goodwill 57 612 8 764 20 045 – – 86 421

At 30 June 2006
Segment revenue
– external 4 378 324 1 166 416 216 218 34 148 12 5 795 118

Segment result (operating 
profit) 152 021 71 334 33 377 5 421 – 262 153

Non-cash income and 
expenses
–  Impairment of goodwill – (4 928) – – – (4 928)
–  Fair value adjustments 7 810 – 10 320 – – 18 130
–  Share-based payments – – – – 314 314
–  Depreciation (28 912) (48 791) (3 426) – – (81 129)
Associate income – – 5 812 1 376 – 7 188
Segment assets 1 813 260 916 905 112 177 158 655 7 292 3 008 289 
Segment liabilities 1 246 983 794 760 50 676 153 092 – 2 245 511
Investment in associates – – 14 254 11 611 – 25 865
Capital expenditure 86 313 108 618 5 442 – – 200 373
Goodwill 36 582 20 514 19 124 – – 76 220

During the current year the business segments of the group were redefined in order to classify the operating activities of the
segments more accurately. Operating activities within the industrial sector are now disclosed as a stand alone segment whilst
the operating activities of the property sector are now disclosed with those of the concession segment, whereas in the prior
year they were disclosed within the building and civil engineering segment. Prior year figures have been reclassified to reflect
the relevant changes.
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28. Segmental analysis continued
Secondary reporting format
Geographical segments

Local International Consolidated
R’000 R’000 R’000

At 30 June 2007
Segment revenue 5 515 206 2 612 587 8 127 793
Segment result (operating profit) 303 519 112 358 415 877
Segment assets 2 678 016 1 570 312 4 248 328
Segment liabilities 2 114 208 1 052 716 3 166 924
Capital expenditure 268 588 75 592 344 180

At 30 June 2006
Segment revenue 4 012 234 1 782 884 5 795 118
Segment result (operating profit) 175 069 87 084 262 153
Segment assets 1 928 566 1 079 723 3 008 289
Segment liabilities 1 540 212 705 299 2 245 511
Capital expenditure 179 776 20 597 200 373

The group’s activities are classified into two distinct operating areas, namely local and international. All operating activities in
areas within the borders of the Republic of South Africa are included in the local segment. The international segment includes
operating activities in the following countries: Swaziland, Botswana, Mozambique, The Democratic Republic of Congo, Zambia,
Tanzania, Ghana and Australia.

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

29. Cash flow information
29.1 Cash generated by operations

Operating profit 415 877 262 153
Adjusted for non-cash items:
Depreciation 96 484 81 129 
Foreign currency adjustment on property, plant and equipment (7 161) (365)
Movement in provisions 121 255 105 300 
Net foreign exchange gains (11 366) (6 436)
Profit from the disposal of property, plant and equipment (6 055) (8 856)
Provision for write down of loans 19 694 4 352 
Provision for bad debts 131 184 –
Translation of foreign entities (note 29.3) 27 083 16 268 

Operating income before working capital changes: 786 995 453 545 
Working capital changes
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 49 313 (99 555)
Increase in contracts in progress (315 335) (261 741)
Increase in short-term receivables and financial assets (99 611) (48 968)
Increase in short-term financial liabilities 736 038 196 684 

370 405 (213 580)

Cash generated from operations 1 157 400 239 965 
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2007 2006
R’000 R’000

29. Cash flow information continued
29.2 Taxation paid

Outstanding at beginning of the year (116 500) (68 724)
Expense for the year (127 999) (75 343)
Change in deferred tax (73 740) (26 937)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (989) (714)
Outstanding at end of year 238 953 116 500 

Net taxation paid (80 275) (55 218)

29.3 Foreign currency translation reserve movements (note 29.1)
Property, plant and equipment 9 532 4 298 
Goodwill 5 021 724
Long-term financial assets – (47)
Inventories 114 95 
Contracts in progress 11 382 41 368 
Short-term receivables 10 722 1 090 
Cash and cash equivalents 34 385 1 330 
Long-term financial liabilities 183 (272)
Deferred tax (742) 226
Provisions 2 090 (16 258)
Short-term financial liabilities (38 484) (16 275)
Taxation (6 318) (392)
Minority interests and joint ventures (802) 381 

27 083 16 268 

29.4 (Increase)/decrease in long-term financial liabilities
Outstanding at beginning of year (212 554) (66 695)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (835) (34 025)
Outstanding at end of year 199 573 212 555

Cash inflow for the year (13 816) 111 835

29.5 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 1 269 015 638 322
Bank overdrafts (564) (12 319)

1 268 451 626 003
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2007
R’000

30. Acquisitions
30.1 Acquisition of additional interests in associates

RMS-Dynamic-Rebar (Pty) Limited
The fair value of assets and liabilities on acquisition was as follows:
Contracts in progress 10 824
Property, plant and equipment 622
Inventory 2 871
Accounts payable (13 007)
Taxation (248)
Cash and cash equivalents 5 127

6 189
Minority interest recognised on acquisition (3 088)

3 101
Previously acquired as an associate (2 475)

626
Goodwill 1 139

Purchase price 1 765

The group acquired an additional 10,1% interest in the company on 1 November 2006 thereby 
increasing its total interest to 50,1% with the effect that the company has been consolidated since the 
acquisition date. The company was previously equity accounted for as an associate.

Tsala – RMS Solutions (Cape) (Pty) Limited
The fair value of assets and liabilities on acquisition were as follows:
Investments 469
Contract debtors 4 644
Contracts in progress (2 528)
Inventory 196
Accounts payable (2 642)
Taxation (601)
Cash and cash equivalents 1 682

1 220
Minority interest recognised on acquisition (598)

622
Previously acquired as an associate (488)

134
Goodwill 92

Purchase price 226

The group acquired an additional 11% interest in the company on 1 November 2006 thereby increasing its total interest
to 51% with the effect that the company has been consolidated since the acquisition date. The company was previously
equity accounted for as an associate.
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2007
R’000

30. Acquisitions continued
30.2 Acquisition of  additional interest in joint venture

Amandla Reinforcing (Pty) Limited
The fair value of assets and liabilities on acquisition were as follows:
Property, plant and equipment 626
Contract debtors 1 227
Inventory 84
Accounts payable (889)
Taxation (138)
Deferred tax (2)
Long-term financial liabilities (835)
Cash and cash equivalents 237

310
Negative goodwill (310)

Purchase price –

The group acquired an additional 49% interest in the company on 1 November 2006 thereby increasing its 
total interest to 95% with the effect that the company has been consolidated since the acquisition date. 
The company was previously proportionately consolidated on a line-for-line basis.

30.3 Acquisition of associates
C.E.C.K. Civil Construction Pty Limited

Purchase price 30 031

The group acquired an additional interest in the company on 1 July 2006 thereby increasing its total interest 
to 40% with the effect that the company has been equity accounted for since the date of acquisition.

30.4 Minority interests
The following minority interests were acquired during the year.

% holding after
% acquired acquisition 

Probuild Constructions (Aust) Pty Limited 8,4 60,0 32 207
Probuild Residential Pty Limited 8,4 60,0 –
Basic Construction Pty Limited 10,0 70,0 1 972

34 179

Cash flow on acquisition of additional equity interests 66 201

31. Events after the balance sheet date
The following non-adjusting events occurred after the balance sheet date:-

Interest Purchase Net asset Goodwill to
acquired price value be recognised

% R’000 R’000 R’000

L.E.T. Construction (Pty) Limited 100 24 000 10 115 13 885
Insitu Pipelines (Pty) Limited 70 28 000 14 087 13 913

On 1 July 2007 the group acquired all of the issued share capital of L.E.T. Construction (Pty) Limited. (LET).  LET is principally
engaged in civil engineering in South Africa.  The main objective behind the acquisition was to increase the human resources of the
group in the engineering field.  The goodwill to be recognised at acquisition relates primarily to the value placed on the human capital.

On 1 July 2007 the group acquired a seventy percent interest in Insitu Pipelines (Pty) Limited (Insitu).  Insitu specialises in the
construction and rehabilitation of water, sewer and gas pipelines.  The goodwill to be recognised at acquisition reflects
management’s estimates of growth that can be achieved arising from future government infrastructure spending and financial and
managerial advice provided by the group.
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2007 2006
Notes R’000 R’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 1 42 781 42 738
Long-term receivables 2 43 728 5 281

Total assets 86 509 48 019 

Equity and liabilities
Total equity 20 671 5 988
Long-term liabilities 3 65 838 42 031

Total equity and liabilities 86 509 48 019 

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

as at 30 June 2007

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

Share-based payment expense (34 610) (314)

Operating profit (34 610) (314)
Finance income 54 825 38 100 

Profit before finance costs 20 215 37 786 
Taxation (6 789) –

Net profit 13 426 37 786 

COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

for the year ended 30 June 2007
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2007

Employee
Ordinary share-

shares Share scheme Distributable Total
issued premium reserve reserves equity
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Balance at 30 June 2005 as previously reported 555 4 573 – 1 048 6 176 
Effect of prior period error (note 4) – – 628 (628) –

Balance at 30 June 2005 as restated 555 4 573 628 420 6 176
Net profit for the year – – – 37 786 37 786 
Dividend paid – – – (38 288) (38 288)
Effect of prior period error (note 4) – – 314 – 314 

Balance at 30 June 2006 as restated 555 4 573 942 (82) 5 988 
Net profit for the year – – – 13 426 13 426
Dividend paid – – – (59 400) (59 400)
Issue of shares 105 25 942 – – 26 047 
Share-based payment – – 34 610 – 34 610 

Balance at 30 June 2007 660 30 515 35 552 (46 056) 20 671 

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations:
Operating profit (34 610) (314)
Adjusted for non-cash items:
–  Share-based payment expense 34 610 314 
Dividend received 54 825 38 100 
Dividend paid (59 400) (38 288)
Taxation paid (6 789) – 

Net cash flow from operating activities (11 364) (188)

Cash flow from investing activities
Increase in investments in subsidiaries (43) – 
(Increase)/decrease in long-term receivables (38 447) 167

Net cash flow from investing activities (38 490) 167 

Cash flow from financing activities
Increase in long-term financial liabilities 17 018 21 
Issue of share capital 26 047 –

Net cash flow from financing activities 43 065 21 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year – –
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year – –

COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 30 June 2007
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COMPANY NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

1. Investments in subsidiaries 
Shares at cost less impairment losses 42 781 42 738 

A complete list of investments in subsidiaries is set out on page 71.

2. Long-term receivables
Subsidiaries 5 281 5 281 
Share incentive trusts 38 447 –

43 728 5 281

The loans are unsecured, bear no interest and will not be repaid within the next 12 months in 
terms of the loan agreements.

3. Long-term liabilities
Subsidiaries 59 049 42 031 

The loans are unsecured, bear no interest and will not be repaid within the next 12 months in terms of the loan agreements.

4. Restatement of comparative figures
The company financials for the year ended 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2006 have been restated to correctly reflect the share-
based payment expense that was omitted in prior years. There is no effect on the group financial statements for either of these
years.

Effect
R’000

2005
Income statement
Share-based payment expense (628)
Decrease in income (628)

Statement of changes in equity
Decrease in distributable reserves (628)
Increase in employee share-scheme reserve 628 

Net effect on equity –

2006
Income statement
Share-based payment expense (314)
Decrease in income (314)

Statement of changes in equity
Decrease in distributable reserves (314)
Increase in employee share-scheme reserve 314 

Net effect on equity –
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INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

as at 30 June 2007

Country of Issued Effective Shares Amounts owing
incorporation capital holding at cost by/(to) subsidiaries

% 2007 2006 2007 2006
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Held directly
Akani Investment Holdings 
(Pty) Limited (SPE) South Africa R100 055 43 43 – – –
WBHO Construction (Pty) Limited South Africa R900 000 100 42 738 42 738 (55 969) (32 162)
Ovcon Holdings (Pty) Limited South Africa R280 100 – – (9 869) (9 869)
WBHO Industrial Holdings 
(Pty) Limited South Africa R100 100 – – 5 281 5 281 

Held indirectly
Altech Marketing Limited Jersey GBP 9 100
Amandla Reinforcing (Pty) Limited South Africa R100 95
Basic Construction Pty Limited Australia AUS$140 004 42
Capital Africa Steel (Pty) Limited South Africa R300 100
Edwin Construction (Pty) Limited South Africa R100 49
Kalcon (Pty) Limited Botswana P2 100
Matkovich & Hayes (Pty) Limited South Africa R10 000 51
Probuild Constructions (Aust)
Pty Limited Australia AUS$30 744 823 60
Probuild Residential Pty Limited Australia AUS$533 644 60
Reinforcing and Mesh Solutions 
(Pty) Limited South Africa R100 78
Reinforcing and Mesh Solutions 
(KZN) (Pty) Limited South Africa R100 51
Reinforcing and Mesh Solutions 
(EC) (Pty) Limited South Africa R100 50
RMS-Dynamic Rebar (Pty) Limited South Africa R501 50
Suncon (Pty) Limited Botswana P12 000 100
Tsala-RMS Construction Solutions
(Pty) Limited South Africa R100 100
Tsala-RMS Solutions (Cape)
(Pty) Limited South Africa R100 51
WBHO Australia Pty Limited Australia AUS$16 400 000 100
WBHO Civil Engineering 
(Pty) Limited Botswana P100 100
WBHO Construcao 
Mozambique Limitada Mozambique US$403 910 100
WBHO Property Development 
(Pty) Limited South Africa R100 100
WBHO Swaziland Limited Swaziland E2 100
WBHO Ghana (Pty) Limited Ghana $500 000 100

42 781 42 738 (53 768) (36 750)

Investments in dormant subsidiaries have been omitted.

WBHO Construcao Mozambique Limitada has a 31 December reporting date and WBHO Ghana (Pty) Limited has a 31 March reporting date;
changes to the reporting dates are not permitted per the respective countries’ legislation.

The group has made such adjustments as deemed necessary to include all significant transactions from the reporting dates of the subsidiaries to 
30 June 2007.

ANNEXURE 1
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INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

as at 30 June 2007

Country of Effective Shares Amounts owing
incorporation holding at cost by associate

% 2007 2006 2007 2006
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Unlisted associates
Gigajoule International (Pty) Limited South Africa 26,6 7 770 7 770 7 524 5 369
C.E.C.K. Civil Construction Pty Limited Australia 40,0 30 031 – 29 164 – 
Dywidag Systems International (Pty) Limited South Africa 50,0 2 187 2 187 3 923 3 975
RMS-Dynamic Rebar (Pty) Limited South Africa 40,0 n/a – n/a 378
Mecca Reinforcing (Pty) Limited South Africa 44,6 155 – 300 296
Mecca Quick Slabs (Pty) Limited South Africa 33,3 – – 50 –
Tsala-RMS Solutions (Cape) (Pty) Limited South Africa 40,0 n/a – n/a 197

40 143 9 957 40 961 10 215

The terms and conditions relating to amounts owing by associates and other relevant information are set out below:

Gigajoule International (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime lending rate and will not be repaid within the next 12 months in terms of the loan agreement.

Gigajoule International (Pty) Limited has a 31 December year-end. This was the financial reporting date established when the company was
incorporated, and a change of reporting date is not permitted in Mozambique. For the purposes of applying the equity method of accounting, the
financial statements of Gigajoule International (Pty) Limited for the year ended 31 December 2006 have been used, and appropriate adjustments
have been made for the effects of significant transactions between that date and 30 June 2007.

Gigajoule International (Pty) Limited has a 37,6% investment in the Matola Gas Concession. The concession has been awarded several gas sales
contracts but continues to depend on the support of its shareholders in the short term.

The investment in the above concession has been fair valued by the group, in line with the group’s accounting policies, using discounted cash flow
models taking into account future expected dividend streams, market-related exchange rates, discount rates and inflation rates. 

Dywidag Systems International (Pty) Limited
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at the prime lending rate and will not be repaid within the next 12 months in terms of the loan agreement.

RMS-Dynamic Rebar (Pty) Limited, Mecca Reinforcing (Pty) Limited, Mecca Quick Slabs (Pty) Limited and Tsala-RMS Solutions (Cape) (Pty) Limited
The loans are unsecured, bear no interest and will not be repaid within the next 12 months in terms of the loan agreement.

C.E.C.K. Civil Construction Pty Limited
The loan is unsecured, bears no interest and will not be repaid within the next 12 months in terms of the loan agreement.

ANNEXURE 2
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

as at 30 June 2007

2007 2006
% %

Investments in joint ventures and jointly controlled entities
Statutory entities
Dreamworld (Pty) Limited – 42,9
Simbithi Eco Estate (Pty) Limited 50,0 50,0
St Francis Golf Links (Pty) Limited 50,0 50,0
Reinforcing and Mesh Solutions (Southern Cape) (Pty) Limited 50,0 50,0
RMS – Wakefield Reinforcing (Pty) Limited 49,0 49,0

Non-statutory entities
Berg River Consortium 24,0 24,0
CH Contractors Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
Durban Stadium Joint Venture 37,5 –
Echo Contractors Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
Edwin/Big Eye Khaboletti Joint Venture 60,0 60,0
Edwin/Mamli Joint Venture 50,0 –
Edwin/Tsepudi Joint Venture 80,0 –
Fairlands Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
Green Point Stadium Joint Venture 50,0 –
Hullets Joint Venture 50,0 –
ICC Arena Joint Venture 24,5 24,5
Massingir Joint Venture 40,0 40,0
Polokwane Hospital Joint Venture 80,0 –
Polokwane Stadium Joint Venture 87,5 –
Rainprop/D&C Equity Joint Venture 20,0 20,0
Temane Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/ANO`S Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/Azcon Joint Venture 80,0 80,0
WBHO/Bathale Plumbing Joint Venture 84,0 –
WBHO/BT & Monareng Joint Venture 85,0 85,0
WBHO/CSIR Construction Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/CTB Joint Venture 83.0 83,0
WBHO/JMCA Joint Venture 87.5 87,5
WBHO /Kalam Joint Venture 80.0 80,0
WBHO/Lesedi Joint Venture 80.0 80,0
WBHO/Mandlethu Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/MQG Joint Venture 85.0 85,0
WBHO/M&R Mandela Rhodes Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/NJV Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/ODC Joint Venture 85,0 85,0
WBHO/ODC Plumbing Joint Venture 90,0 90,0
WBHO/Paul Mahlaka Joint Venture 87,5 87,5
WBHO/Peter Harley Joint Venture 85,0 –
WBHO/Pro Khaya Construction Joint Venture 70,0 70,0
WBHO/Rainprop DTI Campus Joint Venture 47,5 47,5
WBHO/Rainbow Constitutional Court Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/Rainbow Menlyn Parkade Joint Venture 80,0 80,0
WBHO / Rainbow National Library Joint Venture 70,0 70,0
WBHO/Shearwater Joint Venture 67,0 67,0
WBHO/Shearwater Coastal Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/Shearwater (Potties Pipes) Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/Shearwater Steelpoort Joint Venture 50,0 50,0

ANNEXURE 3
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES continued

as at 30 June 2007

2007 2006
% %

Investments in joint ventures and jointly controlled entities continued
Non-statutory entities continued
WBHO/Simunye 1 Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/Simunye 2 Joint Venture 50,0 50,0
WBHO/Simunye 3 Joint Venture 90,0 –
WBHO/TBP Joint Venture 80,0 80,0
WBHO/Teichman Joint Venture 70,0 70,0
Zambia – Lumwana Civils Joint Venture 30,0 –

All dormant joint ventures have been excluded.

2007 2006
R’000 R’000

The group’s proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows 
as incorporated in the financial statements are summarised below:
Current assets 1 155 275 767 933

Total assets 1 155 275 767 933

Shareholders’ equity 409 539 411 323
Current liabilities 745 736 356 610

Total equity and liabilities 1 155 275 767 933

Revenue 2 198 078 962 141

Expenses 2 009 555 886 681

Profit before taxation 214 080 84 572
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the 25th annual general meeting of shareholders of Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited (the Company)
will be held in the board room, ground floor, 53 Andries Street, Wynberg, Sandton at 11:00 on Wednesday, 24 October 2007 for the
following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the financial statements and reports of the directors and auditors of the Company for the year ended 
30 June 2007.

2. To individually elect directors retiring in terms of the articles of association.
Messrs MS Wylie and JW Abbott retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The credentials of these
directors are set out on page 8.

3. To consider and confirm the executive directors’ remuneration as set out in note 16 of the annual financial statements.

4. To approve the fees payable to the non-executive directors.

5. To authorise the directors to approve the remuneration of the auditors for the audit of the past year.

6. To confirm the appointment of the auditors, BDO Spencer Steward (Johannesburg) Inc for the ensuing year.

7. Subject to meeting the requirements of the JSE Limited (the JSE) to consider and if approved, to pass with or without
modification the following resolutions:

7.1 Ordinary resolution 1
“Resolved that the unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company reserved for the purposes of the Company’s
share schemes, continue to be placed under the control of the directors, who shall be authorised to issue these shares at
such times and on such terms as they deem fit.”

7.2 Ordinary resolution 2
“Resolved that after providing for the shares reserved for the purpose of the Company’s share schemes, the balance of
unissued ordinary shares be placed under the control of the directors, who are hereby authorised to allot and issue these
shares at such times and on such terms as they may decide, subject to The Listing Requirements of the JSE and provided
that any shares issued in terms of this authority shall not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued share capital prior to such
issue.”

8. To confirm the declaration of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2007 of 85 cents per share.

9. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting.

General instructions and information
Directors and management 8 Directors’ shareholding 29
Litigation statement 12 Share capital of the company 48
Responsibility statement 26

Proxies
A member registered as such (either as the holder of shares in certificated form and whose name is reflected in the register of company
members, or as the holder of shares in dematerialised form and whose name is reflected in a sub-register maintained by a CSDP) is
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote in his/her stead should he/she be unable to attend the
annual general meeting, but wishes to be represented thereat. A proxy need not be a member of the company. Proxy forms should be
forwarded to reach the office of the Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited, Ground Floor,
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (P O Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) at least 48 hours before the commencement of the
meeting. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares in the Company such that their holdings are no longer recorded in their
own names should arrange with their CSDP or broker for the necessary authority to attend the annual general meeting.  Should they be
unable, or do not wish to attend but wish to be represented at the meeting, they should provide their CSDP or broker with their voting
instructions in terms of the agreements entered into between the shareholder and CSDP or broker concerned.

By order of the board

MF Simpson
Company Secretary

25 September 2007
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ADMINISTRATION

Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1982/011014/06)
Share code: WBO 
ISIN: ZAE000009932
(“WBHO”)

Registered office and contact details
53 Andries Street
Wynberg, Sandton 2090

PO Box 531
Bergvlei 2012
Telephone: (011) 321 7200
Fax: (011) 887 4364

Website: www.wbho.co.za
e-mail: wbhoho@wbho.co.za

Company Secretary
MF Simpson
BCom, CA(SA), MBA(UCT)

Auditors
BDO Spencer Steward (Johannesburg) Inc.

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg 2001

PO Box 61051
Marshalltown 2107
Telephone: (011) 370 5000
Fax: (011) 370 5271

Sponsor
Investec Bank Limited

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

Financial year-end 30 June

Preliminary announcement August

Annual report posted September

Annual general meeting October

Interim results announced February

Shareholders’ payments
Interim payment
–  approved March
–  payable April

Final payment
–  approved August
–  payable October
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FORM OF PROXY

Wilson Bayly Holmes-Ovcon Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1982/011014/06)
Share code: WBO 
ISIN: ZAE000009932
(WBHO)

For use by certificated and own name dematerialised shareholders at the annual general meeting of shareholders to be held in the
boardroom at the registered office of WBHO, 53 Andries Street, Wynberg, Sandton on Wednesday, 24 October 2007 at 11:00

I/We

of

being a shareholder of WBHO shares hereby appoint (see note 1):

1. or failing him/her

2. or failing him/her

3. the chairperson of the general meeting

As my/our proxy to act for me/us at the general meeting of shareholders which will be held in the boardroom at the registered office
of WBHO, 53 Andries Street, Wynberg, Sandton, on Wednesday, 24 October 2007 at 11:00 for the purpose of considering and, if
deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment or
postponement thereof, and to vote for me/us as follows:

Number of votes (one vote per share)

In favour Against Abstain

1. Approval of the annual financial statements

2.1 To re-elect Mr MS Wylie

2.2 To re-elect Mr JW Abbott

3. Approve the remuneration of the executive directors

4. Approve fees payable to the non-executive directors

5. Authorise the directors to approve the auditor’s fees

6. Authorise the directors to re-appoint BDO Spencer 
Steward (Johannesburg) Inc as the Company’s auditors

7.1 Directors’ authority to issue shares reserved for the share schemes

7.2 General authority for directors to issue shares

8. To confirm the payment of the final dividend

and generally to act as my/our proxy at the said general meeting. (If no directions are given, the proxy holder will be entitled to vote
or to abstain from voting as that proxy holder deems fit.)

Signed at on 2007

Signature

Assisted by me (where applicable)

(State capacity and full name)

Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need be a shareholder/s of WBHO) to attend, speak and
vote in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting.

(Please read the notes on the reverse hereof)
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NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY

1. This proxy form is to be completed only by those shareholders who still hold shares in a certificated form or whose shares are
recorded in their own name in a dematerialised electronic form in the subregister.

2. Shareholders whose dematerialised shares are held in the name of a nominee and wish to attend the annual general meeting,
must contact their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker who will furnish them with the necessary letter of
representation. Alternatively, they have to instruct their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote. This has to be done in
accordance with the agreement between the shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

3. Dematerialised shareholders, other than those with own name registration who wish to attend and vote at the meeting, must
ensure that their letters of representation from their CSDP or broker reach the transfer secretaries by no later than 48 hours
before the commencement of the meeting.

4. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space
provided.

The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the general meeting will be entitled to act as
proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

5. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by the
shareholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to
abstain from voting at the general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat.

A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by the proxy, but the total of the
votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder
or by the proxy.

6. Forms of proxy must be lodged with or posted to the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited,
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107) to reach them no later than 11:00 on Monday, 
22 October 2007.

7. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the general meeting
and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms thereof.

8. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form in a representative or other legal capacity must be
attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the annual
general meeting.

9. An alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

10. If any shares are jointly held, the first name appearing in the register shall, in the event of any dispute, be taken as the shareholder.

11. Any alterations, corrections or deletions to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.
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